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AGREEMENT 

 

 This Agreement for the management of Special Service Area Number __is entered into as 

of the date set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above by and between the Contractor 

named in the Agreement-Specific Information above ("Contractor"), and the City of Chicago 

("City"), a municipal corporation and home rule unit of local government existing under the 

Constitution of the State of Illinois, acting through the Special Service Area Commission at 

Chicago, Illinois. 

 

RECITALS 

  

 WHEREAS, special service areas may be established pursuant to Article VII, §§ 6(1) and 

7(6) of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, and pursuant to the provisions of the Special Service 

Area Tax Law, 35 ILCS 200/27-5 et seq.; and 

           

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Chicago ("City Council") has established a 

special service area known and designated as set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information 

above ("Area"), to provide special services in addition to those services provided generally by the 

City ("Special Services"). The City Council has further authorized the levy of an annual ad valorem 

real property tax in the Area sufficient to produce revenues required to provide those Special 

Services but not to exceed the percentage set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above 

of the equalized assessed value of all property within the Area ("Service Tax"), all as provided in 

the Establishment Ordinance (hereinafter defined); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council, on the date set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information 

above, authorized the levy of the Service Tax and appropriation of the funds therefrom for the 

Area for fiscal year 2025 for the provision of the Special Services in the Area, and the City wishes 

to provide that the Contractor, beginning on January 1, 2025, and continuing until December 31, 

2025, may use those funds to provide the Services, subject to the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the Contractor and the City desire to enter into this Agreement to provide 

such Special Services in the Area and the Contractor is ready, willing and able to enter into this 

Agreement to provide the Special Services to the full satisfaction of the City; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained in this 

Agreement, the City and the Contractor agree as follows: 

 

 

 ARTICLE 1  INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 

 

 The recitals set forth above are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 
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 ARTICLE 2  DEFINITIONS 

 

 The following words and phrases shall have the following meanings for purposes of this 

Agreement: 

 

 "Agreement" means this Special Service Area Agreement, including all exhibits attached 

to it and incorporated in it by reference, and all amendments, modifications or revisions made in 

accordance with its terms. 

 

 "Commissioner" means the Commissioner of the Department of Planning and 

Development or a duly authorized representative of the Commissioner of the Department of 

Planning and Development. 

 

 "Construction" means that work of a nature constituting “public works” as defined in 820 

ILCS 130/2, such as landscaping and building activities, including but not limited to, physical 

building improvements, installations and other fixed works, but does not include pre-development 

work (design and preparation of specifications). 

 

 "Days" means business days in accordance with the City of Chicago business calendar. 

 

 "Department" means the City of Chicago Department of Planning and Development. 

 

 "Establishment Ordinance" means the ordinance enacted by City Council on the date set 

forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above, and any subsequent amendments thereto 

authorizing imposition of the Service Tax and setting forth the Special Services to be provided in 

the Area. 

 

 “Late Collections” means any tax revenue received by the City during the term of this 

Agreement attributable to the levy of the Service Tax in prior years in the SSA, along with any 

interest income on such revenue. 

 

 "Risk Management Division" means the Risk Management Division of the Department 

of Finance which is under the direction of the Comptroller of the City and is charged with 

reviewing and analyzing insurance and related liability matters for the City. 

 

 "Security Firm" means a business entity certified by the State of Illinois pursuant to the 

Private Detective, Private Alarm, Private Security, Fingerprint Vendor, and Locksmith Act of 

2004, 225 ILCS 447 et seq., and whose employees are licensed by the State of Illinois. 

 

 "Services" means, collectively, the services, duties and responsibilities described in Article 

3 and Exhibit 1(A) (Scope of Services) of this Agreement and any revisions thereof and any and 
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all work necessary to complete them or carry them out fully and to the standard of performance 

required in this Agreement. 

 

 "Service Tax Funds" means the amount actually collected pursuant to the Service Tax. 

 

 "Special Service Area Commission ('SSAC')" means the body established pursuant to 

the Establishment Ordinance to prepare the Budget, identify a Contractor and supervise the 

provision of the Special Services in the Area. 

 

 "Subcontractor" means any person or entity with whom Contractor contracts to provide 

any part of the Services, including subcontractors of any tier, subconsultants of any tier, suppliers 

and materialmen, whether or not in privity with the Contractor. 

 

 "Surplus Funds", also referred to as “Carry-Over Funds”, means those Service Tax Funds 

already collected and disbursed to the Contractor in prior years for the provision of Special 

Services in the Area which remain unspent, including any interest earned thereon.  

“Surplus TIF Funds” means a portion of those tax increment funds originally established 

by the City in the fund number set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above in 

connection with redevelopment areas which remain unspent. 

 

 ARTICLE 3  DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONTRACTOR 

 

 3.01  Scope of Services  

 

 The Services which the Contractor shall provide include, but are not limited to, those 

described in this Article 3 and in Exhibit 1(A) which is attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference as if fully set forth here.  The SSAC reserves the right to require the Contractor to perform 

revised services that are within the general scope of services of this Agreement and of the Special 

Services identified in the Establishment Ordinance subject to the same terms and conditions herein.  

Revised services are limited to changes or revisions to the line items in the Budget, do not affect 

the maximum compensation and require the prior written approval of the SSAC.  The SSAC may, 

by written notice to the Department and the Contractor, delete or amend the figures contained and 

described in the Budget attached hereto as Exhibit 1(B) and incorporated by reference as if fully 

set forth herein.  The Contractor shall provide the Services in accordance with the standards of 

performance set forth in Section 3.02. 

 

 3.02  Standard of Performance  

 

 The Contractor shall perform all Services required of it with that degree of skill, care and 

diligence normally shown by a contractor performing services of a scope, purpose and magnitude 

comparable with the nature of the Services to be provided hereunder.  The Contractor shall at all 
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times use every reasonable effort on behalf of the City to assure timely and satisfactory rendering 

and completion of its Services. 

 

 The Contractor shall at all times act in the best interests of the City consistent with the 

professional obligations assumed by it in entering into this Agreement.  The Contractor shall 

perform all Services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and to the full 

satisfaction of the SSAC.  The Contractor shall furnish efficient business administration and 

supervision to render and complete the Services at reasonable cost. 

 

 The Contractor shall assure that all Services that require the exercise of professional skills 

or judgment are accomplished by professionals qualified and competent in the applicable 

discipline and appropriately licensed, if required by law.  The Contractor remains responsible for 

the professional and technical accuracy of all Services provided, whether by the Contractor or its 

Subcontractors or others on its behalf.  

 

 If the SSAC determines that the Contractor has failed to comply with the foregoing 

standards, the Contractor shall perform again, at its own expense, all Services required to be 

reperformed as a direct or indirect result of such failure.  Any review, approval, acceptance or 

payment for any or all of the Services by the City does not relieve the Contractor of its 

responsibility for the professional and technical accuracy of its Services.  This provision in no way 

limits the City's rights against Contractor, either under this Agreement, at law or in equity. 

 

 3.03  Personnel  

 

 A.  Key Personnel 

 

 The Contractor shall, immediately upon receiving a fully executed copy of this Agreement, 

assign and maintain during the term of this Agreement and any extension thereof an adequate staff 

of competent personnel, who are fully equipped, licensed as appropriate, available as needed, 

qualified and assigned to perform the Services.  Contractor shall pay the salaries and wages due 

all its employees performing Services under this Agreement unconditionally and at least once a 

month without deduction or rebate on any account, except only for such payroll deductions as are 

mandatory by law or are permitted under applicable law and regulations.  

 

 B.  Prevailing Wages 

 

 If  Contractor engages in any Construction, it shall comply, and shall cause all of its 

Subcontractors to comply by inserting appropriate provisions in their contracts, with 820 ILCS 

130/0.01 et seq. regarding the payment of the general prevailing rate of hourly wage for all 

laborers, workers, and mechanics employed by or on behalf of the Contractor and all 

Subcontractors engaged in or engaged in connection with any and all Construction work.  The 

prevailing rates of wages applicable at the time of execution of this Agreement are included in 

Exhibit 5 to this Agreement, which is incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.  
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 C. Illinois Workers, Veterans Preference and Steel Products 

 

 If the Contractor engages in Construction, it shall comply, and shall cause all of its 

Subcontractors to comply by inserting appropriate provisions in their contracts, with the 

Employment of Illinois Workers on Public Works Act, 30 ILCS 570/0.01 et seq., the Veterans 

Preference Act, 330 ILCS 55/0.01 et seq., and the Steel Products Procurement Act, 30 ILCS 

30/565/1 et seq. 

 

 

 3.04  Nondiscrimination  

 

 (a) Contractor 

 

 (i) Federal Requirements 

 

Contractor must not engage in unlawful employment practices, such as (1) failing or 

refusing to hire or discharging any individual, or otherwise discriminating against any 

individual with respect to compensation or the terms, conditions or privileges of the 

individual’s employment, because of the individual's race, color, religion, sex, age, 

handicap/disability or national origin; or (2) limiting, segregating or classifying 

Contractor’s employees or applicants for employment in any way that would deprive or 

tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or otherwise adversely affect 

the individual’s status as an employee, because of the individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

age, handicap/disability or national origin.   

 

Contractor must comply with, and the procedures Contractor utilizes and the Services 

Contractor provides under this Agreement must comply with the following laws, as 

amended: the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. (1988), as amended and 

the Civil Rights Act of 1991, P.L. 102-166.  Attention is called to:  Exec. Order No. 11246, 

30 Fed. Reg. 12319 (1965), reprinted in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by Exec. 

Order No. 11375, 32 Fed. Reg. 14303 (1967) and by Exec. Order No. 12086, 43 Fed. Reg. 

46501 (1978); Age Discrimination Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6106 (1981); Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 621-34;  Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 

U.S.C. §§ 793-794 (1981); Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12101 et  seq.; 41 

C.F.R. Part 60 et seq. (1990), including the Equal Employment Opportunity Clause, which 

is incorporated by reference; and all other applicable federal statutes, regulations and other 

laws. 

 

 (ii) State Requirements 

 

Contractor must comply with, and the procedures Contractor utilizes and the Services 

Contractor provides under this Agreement must comply with, the Illinois Human Rights 
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Act, 775 ILCS 5/1-101 et seq. (1990), as amended and any rules and regulations 

promulgated in accordance with it, including the Equal Employment Opportunity Clause, 

44 Ill. Admin. Code § 750 Appendix A, which is incorporated by reference.  Furthermore, 

Contractor must comply with the Public Works Employment Discrimination Act, 775 

ILCS 10/0.01 et seq. (1990), as amended, and all other applicable state statues, regulations 

and other laws. 

   

 (iii) City Requirements 

 

Contractor must comply with, and the procedures Contractor utilizes and the Services 

Contractor provides under this Agreement must comply with, the Chicago Human Rights 

Ordinance, Ch. 6-10 et seq. of the Municipal Code of Chicago (2023), as amended, and all 

other applicable City ordinances and rules. 

 

 

 (b) Subcontractors 

 

 Contractor must incorporate all of this Section 3.04 by reference in all agreements entered 

into with any suppliers of materials, furnisher of services, Subcontractors of any tier, and labor 

organizations that furnish skilled, unskilled and craft union skilled labor, or that may provide any 

such materials, labor or services in connection with this Agreement.   Further, Contractor must 

furnish and must cause each of its Subcontractor(s) to furnish such reports and information as 

requested by the federal, state and local agencies charged with enforcing such laws and regulations, 

including the Chicago Commission on Human Relations.    

 

 

 3.05  Insurance  

 

 The Contractor shall comply with the insurance provisions attached hereto as Exhibit 3 and 

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, or such other insurance provisions as may be 

required in the reasonable judgment of the Risk Management Division.  If the Contractor enters 

into a subcontract with a Security Firm such Security Firm shall comply with the insurance 

provisions attached hereto as Exhibit 4 and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, 

or such other insurance provisions as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Risk 

Management Division.  If the Contractor subcontracts with a Subcontractor other than a Security 

Firm, such Subcontractor shall comply with the Contractor insurance provisions attached hereto 

as Exhibit 3. 

 

 The Risk Management Division may waive or reduce any of the insurance requirements 

set forth herein.  
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3.06  Indemnification  

 

 A. On written notice from the City of Losses the City believes are Losses Arising 

under this Agreement as defined in this Section 3.06, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold completely harmless the City Indemnitees from and against such Losses, regardless of 

whether Contractor challenges the City’s belief.   The defense, indemnification and hold harmless 

obligations of the Contractor toward City Indemnitees remain an affirmative obligation of 

Contractor following the City’s notice of Losses the City believes are Losses Arising under this 

Agreement, unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction finally determines otherwise and all 

opportunities for appeal have been exhausted or have lapsed. 

 

 B. For purposes of this Section 3.06,  

 

 “City Indemnitees” means, individually and collectively, the City of Chicago, its officials, 

agents, employees and SSAC members.   

 

 “Losses” means, individually and collectively, all kinds of liabilities, losses, suits, claims, 

damages, judgments, fines, and demands, including all reasonable costs for investigation, 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, and experts’ fees, arising by reason of injury or death of 

any person, damage to property, patent or copyright infringement. 

 

 “Arising under this Agreement” means (i) arising out of awarding this Agreement; (ii) 

arising out of the enforcement of this Agreement, including the enforcement of this 

indemnification provision; (iii) arising out of or in connection with Contractor’s performance or 

non-performance of this Agreement (including the acts or omission of Contractor, its officers, 

agents, employees, consultants, subcontractors, licensees, or invitees), any breach by any of them 

of any warranty made under this Agreement, or any failure by any of them to meet any applicable 

standard of performance under this Agreement; or (iv) any combination of any of the foregoing. 

 

 C. To the extent permissible by law, Contractor waives any limits on Contractor’s liability 

that it would otherwise have by virtue of the Worker’s Compensation Act or any other related law 

or judicial decision (such as Kotecki v. Cyclops Welding Corporation, 146 Ill. 2d 155 (1991)).  The 

City, however, does not waive any limitations it may have on its liability under the Worker’s 

Compensation Act or under the Illinois Pension Code. 

 

 D. The City has the right, at its option and at its own expense, to participate in the 

defense of any suit without relieving Contractor of any of its obligations under this indemnity 

provision.  The requirements set forth in this indemnity provision are separate from and not limited 

by the amount of insurance Contractor is required to obtain under this Agreement or by its bonds 

pursuant to other provisions in this Agreement.  Further, the indemnitees contained in this 

provision survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 
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 3.07  Records and Audits   

 

 The Contractor shall deliver or cause to be delivered all documents, data, studies, reports, 

findings or information to the SSAC promptly in accordance with the time limits prescribed herein 

and if no time limit is specified, then upon reasonable demand therefore, or upon termination or 

completion of the Services hereunder.   

 

 The Contractor agrees to adopt at its own expense such financial controls, including, 

without limitation, the employment of a fiscal agent approved by the Commissioner, as determined 

by the Commissioner in his sole discretion and communicated in writing to the Contractor after 

the date of execution of this Agreement, to ensure that the Contractor is fulfilling the terms of this 

Agreement. 

 
 The Contractor and any Subcontractors shall furnish the SSAC with semi-annual reports 

or provide such information as may be requested relative to the performance and cost of the 

Services.  The Contractor shall maintain records showing actual time devoted and costs incurred.  

The Contractor shall keep books, documents, paper, records and accounts in connection with the 

Services open to inspection, copying, abstracting, transcription, and an independent audit by City 

employees or agents or third parties, and shall make these records available to the City and any 

other interested governmental agency at reasonable times during the performance of its Services.  

Contractor must maintain any such records including Deliverables not delivered to the City or 

demanded by the City for a period that is the longer of (A) 5 years after the final payment made in 

connection with this Agreement (or, 6 years after the final payment made in connection with this 

Agreement, with respect to any records that are required to be maintained pursuant to the 

Contractor’s obligations under the regulations implementing the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and the Health Information Technology for Economic and 

Clinical Health Act (HITECH), which was part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act 

of 2009, specifically 45 C.F.R. § 164.530(j)), or (B) as directed by the Local Records Act (50 ILCS 

205) and relevant records retention schedule.  Contractor must not dispose of such records 

following the expiration of the relevant period without notification of and written approval from 

the City in accordance with Article 10. 

 
In addition to the records to be stored by Contractor, all records that are possessed by 

Contractor in its service to the City to perform a governmental function are public records of the 

City pursuant to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), unless the records are exempt 

under the Act.  FOIA requires that the City produce records in a very short period of time.  If the 

Contractor receives a request from the City to produce records, the Contractor shall do so within 

72 hours of the notice.   

 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT COMMINGLE SERVICE TAX FUNDS WITH 

FUNDS FROM OTHER SOURCES, and to the extent that the Contractor conducts any business 

operations separate and apart from the Services hereunder using, for example, personnel, 

equipment, supplies or facilities also used in connection with this Agreement, then the Contractor 
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shall maintain and make similarly available to the City detailed records supporting the Contractor's 

allocation to this Agreement of the costs and expenses attributable to any such shared usages. 

 

 The Contractor shall provide an annual audited financial statement (a “Third Party Audit”) 

to the Department and the SSAC within 120 calendar days after the end of the calendar year, and 

the system of accounting shall be in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and 

practices, consistently applied throughout.  Contractor must comply with the requirements in 

Exhibit 8 with respect to any Third Party Audit.  If any Third Party Audit shows that Contractor 

or any of its Subcontractors has overcharged the City in any period, the City will notify Contractor, 

and Contractor must then promptly reimburse the City for any amounts the City has paid 

Contractor due to the overcharges.  Any failure to comply with the audit requirements set forth in 

Exhibit 8 of the Agreement shall constitute an event of default under the Agreement.  If such event 

of default is not corrected to the City’s satisfaction within the cure period identified by the City, 

the City may incur costs to conduct any supplementary audit it deems necessary, and Contractor 

must then promptly reimburse the City for any such costs.  No provision in this Agreement granting 

the City a right of access to records and documents is intended to impair, limit or affect any right 

of access to such records and documents that the City would have had in the absence of such 

provisions. 

  

 The City may in its sole discretion audit the records of Contractor or its Subcontractors, or 

both, at any time during the term of this Agreement or within five years after the Agreement ends, 

in connection with the goods, work, or services provided under this Agreement.  Each calendar 

year or partial calendar year is considered an “audited period.” If, as a result of such an audit, it is 

determined that Contractor or any of its Subcontractors has overcharged the City in the audited 

period, the City will notify Contractor.   Contractor must then promptly reimburse the City for any 

amounts the City has paid Contractor due to the overcharges and also some or all of the cost of the 

audit, as follows:   

 

 A. If the audit has revealed overcharges to the City representing less than 5% of the 

total value, based on the Agreement prices, of the goods, work, or services provided in the audited 

period, then the Contractor must reimburse the City for 50% of the cost of the audit and 50% of 

the cost of each subsequent audit that the City conducts; 

 

 B. If, however, the audit has revealed overcharges to the City representing 5% or more 

of the total value, based on the Agreement prices, of the goods, work, or services provided in the 

audited period, then Contractor must reimburse the City for the full cost of the audit and of each 

subsequent audit.  
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 If the City is unable to make a determination regarding overcharges to City as a result of 

Contractor’s not having maintained records as required under this Agreement, Contractor must 

promptly reimburse the City for some or all of the cost of the audit, as determined in the sole 

discretion of the City. Failure of Contractor to promptly reimburse the City in accordance with this 

Section 3.07 is an event of default under Section 7.01 of this Agreement, and Contractor will be 

liable for all of the City’s costs of collection, including any court costs and attorneys’ fees. 

 

 3.08  Subcontracts and Assignments  

 

 The Contractor shall not assign, delegate, subcontract or otherwise transfer all or any part 

of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or any part hereof, unless otherwise provided for 

herein or without the express written consent of the SSAC.  The absence of such provision or 

written consent shall void the attempted assignment, delegation or transfer and shall be of no effect 

as to the Services or this Agreement. 

 

 All subcontracts, all approvals of Subcontractors and any assignment to which the SSAC 

consents are, regardless of their form, deemed conditioned upon performance by the Subcontractor 

or assignee in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

 If the Contractor subcontracts for security services, the Subcontractor shall be a Security 

Firm certified by the State of Illinois and the Security Firm's employees shall be licensed by the 

State of Illinois.  The Contractor, upon entering into any subcontract with a Security Firm, shall 

furnish the SSAC and the Department with a copy of the subcontract for their approval.  The City 

expressly reserves the right to approve all Security Firm subcontracts.  

 

 Upon request from the City, the Contractor shall provide information regarding the 

Subcontractors used on the Agreement, including their names, locations, whether the 

Subcontractors are Certified Firms, and, if so, the type of Certified Firm. 

 

 3.09  License, Permits and Safety Considerations  

 

 A.  Licenses and Permits   

 

 If the Contractor engages in Construction, it is responsible for and, in a timely manner 

consistent with its obligations hereunder, shall secure and maintain at its expense such permits, 

licenses, authorizations and approvals as are necessary for it to engage in Construction under this 

Agreement. 

 

 B.  Safety Considerations 

 

 If the Contractor engages in Construction, it shall at all times exercise reasonable care, 

shall comply with all applicable provisions of federal, state and local laws to prevent accidents or 
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injuries, and shall take all appropriate precautions to avoid damage to and loss of City property 

and the property of third parties in connection with the Construction.  The Contractor shall erect 

and properly maintain at all times all necessary safeguards, barriers, flags and lights for the 

protection of its and its Subcontractors' employees, City employees and the public. 

 

 If the Contractor engages in Construction, it shall report to the Department any damage on, 

about, under or adjacent to City property or the property of third persons resulting from its 

performance under this Agreement.  The Contractor is responsible for any damage to City property 

and the property of third parties due, in whole or in part, to the Contractor's Construction activities 

under this Agreement, and the Contractor shall repair such damage to a reasonably acceptable 

standard.  

 

 3.10  Performance Bond  

 

 If the Contractor engages in Construction work where expenditures exceed $100,000, it 

shall, not later than the date the Contractor begins such work or executes a subcontract for such 

work, provide or cause to be provided to the Department a performance and payment bond in the 

amount allocated for the Construction work (but not including the amount allocated for design and 

preparation of specifications), by a surety or sureties acceptable to the City.  The performance 

bond shall be in the form and to the effect of Exhibit 6 hereto, which is incorporated by reference 

as if fully set forth here. 

 

 If any of the sureties on such bond at any time fail financially, or are deemed to be 

insufficient security for the penalty of the bond, then the City may, on giving 10 days’ notice 

thereof in writing, require the Contractor to furnish a new and additional bond with sureties 

satisfactory to the City, and, if so required, Contractor must promptly provide such bond. 

 

 ARTICLE 4  TERM OF SERVICES 

 

 This Agreement shall take effect as of January 1, 2025 ("Effective Date") and shall 

continue through December 31, 2025, or until the Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance 

with its terms.   

 

 ARTICLE 5  COMPENSATION 

 

 5.01  Basis of Payment 

 

 The maximum compensation that the Contractor may be paid under this Agreement 

between January 1, 2025 and December 31, 2025 is the sum of (a) the amount set forth in the 

Agreement-Specific Information above or the total amount of Service Tax Funds actually 

collected, plus interest earned on those funds, for tax year 2024, whichever is less; (b) the total 

amount of Surplus Funds in the amount set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above 

which are being carried over from previous program years and which Contractor hereby 
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acknowledges are in its possession; (c) Surplus TIF Funds in the amount set forth in the 

Agreement-Specific Information above; and (d)  Late Collections in an amount not to exceed the 

amount set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above; the maximum compensation that 

the Contractor may be paid under this Agreement between January 1, 2025 and December 31, 

2025, therefore, shall not exceed the amount set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information 

above. 

 

5.02  Budget for Services  

 

 The Contractor in conjunction with the SSAC has prepared a Budget through December 

31, 2025, attached hereto as Exhibit 1 (B) and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth here, 

covering all services described in the Scope of Services.  Subject to the restriction that the 

maximum amount that may be spent in calendar year 2025 may not exceed the amount set forth in 

the Agreement-Specific Information above, the SSAC reserves the right to transfer funds between 

line items or make Budget revisions that do not affect the maximum compensation set forth in 

Section 5.01.  The SSAC shall revise the Budget if any part of the Contractor's Services is 

terminated. 

 

 5.03  Method of Payment  

 

 Pursuant to a schedule to be determined by the Commissioner, after the performance of 

Services pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, Contractor may submit invoices to the City to 

request reimbursement for such expenses.  The Contractor must provide, along with the invoices, 

such additional documentation as the Commissioner requests to substantiate the Services.  Upon 

the Commissioner's determination that the invoices are accurate, the City will process payment of 

the invoices.   

 

 The Contractor shall establish a separate checking account ("Account") in a bank 

authorized to do business in the State of Illinois that is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation.  All Service Tax Funds that the Comptroller transfers to the Contractor shall be 

deposited in the Account and disbursements from the Account shall be pursuant to this Agreement.  

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR RECONCILING THE ACCOUNT MONTHLY 

AND ACCOUNTING FOR ALL SERVICE TAX FUNDS.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST 

REQUIRE ITS AUDITOR TO REPORT ON THE ACTIVITIES THAT ARE SUPPORTED BY 

THESE FUNDS IN A SEPARATE AUDIT TO ACCOUNT FOR CURRENT AND PRIOR 

YEARS’ SERVICE TAX FUNDS.  

 

 The Contractor shall provide to the SSAC the signature card and sample check from the 

bank which shows the signature(s) of the Contractor's authorized representative(s).  The SSAC 

reserves the right to audit the account and require the Contractor to refund any funds that were not 

spent pursuant to the Budget or that were not approved by the SSAC.  The name and address of 

the bank is set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above and the wire transfer and the 

Account numbers are set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above. 
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 All funds remaining in the Account at the expiration or early termination of this Agreement, 

including any interest earned, belong to the City for the benefit of the Area and shall be returned 

to the City to be used only for Special Services. 

 

 5.04  Criteria for Payment  

 

 The SSAC shall determine the reasonableness, allocability and allowability of any rates, 

costs and expenses charged or incurred by the Contractor. 

 

 5.05  Funding  

 

 Payments under this Agreement shall be made from Service Tax Funds in the fund number 

set forth in the Agreement-Specific Information above and are subject to the availability of funds 

therein. 

 

 5.06  Non-Appropriation  

 

  In the event that no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated and budgeted in any City 

fiscal period for payments to be made under this Agreement, then the City will notify the 

Contractor of such occurrence and this Agreement shall terminate on the earlier of the last day of 

the fiscal period for which sufficient appropriation was made or whenever the funds appropriated 

for payment under this Agreement are exhausted.  No payments shall be made or due to the 

Contractor under this Agreement beyond those amounts appropriated and budgeted by the City to 

fund payments hereunder. 

 

 

 ARTICLE 6  SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 

 6.01  Warranties and Representations  

 

 In connection with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor warrants and 

represents: 

 

 A. That it is financially solvent; that it and each of its employees, agents, and 

Subcontractors are competent to perform the Services required; that it is legally authorized to 

execute and perform or cause to be performed this Agreement under the terms and conditions 

stated herein. 

 

 B. That it shall not knowingly use the services of any ineligible Subcontractor for any 

purpose in the performance of the Services. 
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 C. That it and its Subcontractors are not in default at the time of the execution of this 

Agreement, or deemed by the Department to have, within five years immediately preceding the 

date of this Agreement, been found to be in default on any contract awarded by the City. 

 

 D. That it and, to the best of its knowledge, its Subcontractors are not in violation of 

the provisions of § 2-92-320 of the Municipal Code of Chicago, 720 ILCS 5/33E-1 et seq. of the 

Criminal Code of 1961, and 65 ILCS 5/11-42.1-1 of the Illinois Municipal Code. 

 

 E. That it, all Subcontractors and their respective officers, directors, agents, partners, 

and employees shall cooperate with the Inspector General or Board of Ethics in any investigation 

or hearing undertaken pursuant to Chapters 2-56 or 2-156 of the Municipal Code of Chicago; that 

it understands and will abide by all provisions of Chapter 2-56 and 2-156 of the Municipal Code 

of Chicago and all subcontracts shall inform Subcontractors of such provision and require 

understanding and compliance therewith. 

 

 F. That, except only for those representations, statements or promises expressly 

contained in this Agreement and any exhibits attached hereto, no representation, statement or 

promise, oral or written, or of any kind whatsoever, by the City, its officials, agents or employees, 

has induced the Contractor to enter into this Agreement. 

 

 G. That the Contractor understands and agrees that any certification, affidavit or 

acknowledgment made under oath in connection with this Agreement is made under penalty of 

perjury and, if false, is also cause for termination for default. 

 

 H. That neither Contractor nor an Affiliate  (as defined below) appears on the Specially 

Designated Nationals List, the  Denied Persons List, the Unverified List, the Entity List or the 

Debarred List as maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department  of 

the Treasury or by the Bureau of Industry and Security of the U.S. Department of Commerce (or 

their successors), or on any other list of persons or entities with which the City may not do business 

under any applicable law, rule, regulation, order or judgment.  “Affiliate” means a person or entity 

which directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is 

under common control with Contractor.  A person or entity will be deemed to be controlled by 

another person or entity if it is controlled in any manner whatsoever that results in control in fact 

by that other person or entity, either acting individually or  acting jointly or in concert with others, 

whether directly or indirectly and whether through share ownership, a trust, a contract or otherwise. 

 

 I. Contractor will abide by any policies promulgated by the Department or other City 

departments. 

 

 J.         Contractor understands and will abide by the terms of Section 2-154-020 of the 

Municipal Code of Chicago.  Failure by the Contractor or any controlling person (as defined in 

Section 1-23-010 of the Municipal Code of Chicago) thereof to maintain eligibility to do business 
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with the City of Chicago as required by Section 1-23-030 of the Municipal Code of Chicago shall 

be a default for which no cure is available and grounds for termination of this Agreement.   

 

 6.02  Economic Disclosure Statement  

 

 The Contractor has provided the City with an Economic Disclosure Statement (EDS) and  

Affidavit, “Familial Relationships with Elected City Officials and Department Heads,” which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.  Contractor 

shall apprise the Department promptly of any changes in the information provided in the EDS by 

completing and submitting a revised EDS. 

 

 In addition, the Contractor shall provide the City with copies of its latest articles of 

incorporation, by-laws and resolutions, or partnership or joint venture agreement, as applicable, 

and evidence of its authority to do business in the State of Illinois, including without limitation, 

registrations of assumed names or limited partnerships and certifications of good standing with the 

Office of the Secretary of State of Illinois.  

 

 6.03  Conflict of Interest  

 

 Pursuant to Chapter 2-156 of the Municipal Code of Chicago, and 65 ILCS 5/3.1-55-10, 

no member of the governing body of the City or other unit of government, no other officer, 

employee, SSAC member, or agent of the City or other unit of government who exercises any 

functions or responsibilities in connection with the Services to which this Agreement or any related 

subcontract pertain, and no relative of any SSAC member shall have any personal economic or 

financial interest, directly or indirectly, in this Agreement or any such subcontract except to the 

extent that such benefits are provided equally to all residents and/or business owners in the Area.  

Furthermore, no SSAC member, relative of any SSAC member, City official, agent or employee 

shall be a Subcontractor or have any financial interest in any Subcontractor, employee or 

shareholder of the Contractor or receive anything of value from the Contractor. 

 

 No member of or delegate to the Congress of the United States or the Illinois General 

Assembly and no alderman of the City or City employee shall be admitted to any share or part of 

this Agreement or to any financial benefit to arise from it.  The Contractor acknowledges that any 

agreement entered into, negotiated or performed in violation of any of the provisions of Chapter 

2-156 shall be voidable by the City. 

 

 The Contractor covenants that it, its officers, directors and employees, and the officers, 

directors and employees of each of its members if a joint venture, and Subcontractors presently 

have no financial interest and shall acquire no interest, direct or indirect, in the Services undertaken 

by the Contractor pursuant to the Agreement that would conflict in any manner or degree with the 

performance of the Services.  The Contractor further covenants that in the performance of this 

Agreement no person having any such interest shall be employed.  The Contractor agrees that if 

the Commissioner in his reasonable judgment determines that any of the Contractor's services for 
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others conflict with the Services the Contractor is to provide for the City under this Agreement, 

the Contractor shall terminate such other services immediately upon request of the City. 

 

 6.04  Non-liability of Public Officials  

 

 No official, employee or agent of the City shall be charged personally by the Contractor, 

or by any assignee or Subcontractor of the Contractor, with any liability or expenses of defense or 

be held personally liable to them under any term or provision hereof, because of the City's 

execution or attempted execution hereof, or because of any breach hereof.  

 

 6.05  Independent Contractor  

 

 (a)  The Contractor shall perform under this Agreement as an independent contractor to the 

City and not as a representative, employee, agent or partner of the City.  

 

(b) (i) The City is subject to the June 16, 2014 the “City of Chicago Hiring Plan” (the 

“2014 City Hiring Plan”) entered in Shakman v. Democratic Organization of Cook County, Case 

No 69 C 2145 (United State District Court for the Northern District of Illinois). Among other 

things, the 2014 City Hiring Plan prohibits the City from hiring persons as governmental 

employees in non-exempt positions on the basis of political reasons or factors.   

 

(ii) Contractor is aware that City policy prohibits City employees from directing 

any  individual to apply for a position with Contractor, either as an employee or as a subcontractor, 

and from directing Contractor to hire an individual as an employee or as a subcontractor. 

Accordingly, Contractor must follow its own hiring and contracting procedures, without being 

influenced by City employees. Any and all personnel provided by Contractor under this Agreement 

are employees or subcontractors of Contractor, not employees of the City of Chicago. This 

Agreement is not intended to and does not constitute, create, give rise to, or otherwise recognize 

an employer-employee relationship of any kind between the City and any personnel provided by 

Contractor. 

 

(iii) Contractor will not condition, base, or knowingly prejudice or affect any term or aspect 

of the employment of any personnel provided under this Agreement, or offer employment to any 

individual to provide services under this Agreement, based upon or because of any political reason 

or factor, including, without limitation, any individual’s political affiliation, membership in a 

political organization or party, political support or activity, political financial contributions, 

promises of such political support, activity or financial contributions, or such individual’s political 

sponsorship or recommendation. For purposes of this Agreement, a political organization or party 

is an identifiable group or entity that has as its primary purpose the support of or opposition to 

candidates for elected public office. Individual political activities are the activities of individual 

persons in support of or in opposition to political organizations or parties or candidates for elected 

public office. 
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(iv) In the event of any communication to Contractor by a City employee or City official 

in violation of Section (ii) above, or advocating a violation of Section (iii) above, Contractor will, 

as soon as is reasonably practicable, report such communication to the Hiring Oversight Section 

of the City’s Office of the Inspector General, and also to the head of the relevant City Department 

utilizing services provided under this Agreement. Contractor will also cooperate with any inquiries 

by OIG Hiring Oversight related to the contract. 

 

 (c)   The parties agree that this Contract is solely for the benefit of the parties and 

nothing herein is intended to create any third party beneficiary rights for subcontractors or other 

third parties. 

 

 6.06   Business Relationships with Elected Officials  

 

Pursuant to MCC Sect. 2-156-030(b), it is illegal for any elected official, or any person 

acting at the direction of such elected official, to contact, either orally or in writing, any 

other City official or employee with respect to any matter involving any person with whom 

the elected official has any business relationship that creates a financial interest on the part 

of the elected official, or the domestic partner or spouse of the elected official, or from 

whom or which the elected official or the elected official’s domestic partner or spouse has 

derived any income or compensation during the preceding twelve months or from whom 

or which the elected official or the elected official’s domestic partner or spouse reasonably 

expects to derive any income or compensation in the following twelve months.  In addition, 

no elected official may preside over or participate in any discussion in any City Council 

committee hearing or participate in any City Council meeting or vote on any matter 

involving a person with whom the elected official has any business relationship that creates 

a financial interest on the part of the elected official, or the domestic partner or spouse of 

the elected official, or from whom or which the elected official or the elected official’s 

domestic partner or spouse has derived any income or compensation during the preceding 

twelve months or from whom or which the elected official or the elected official’s domestic 

partner or spouse reasonably expects to derive any income or compensation in the 

following twelve months. 

 

With regard to any such matter involving any person with whom the elected official has 

any business relationship that creates a financial interest on the part of the elected official 

or the elected official's domestic partner or spouse, or from whom either the elected official 

or the elected official's domestic partner or spouse has derived any income or compensation 

in the previous or following twelve months, the elected official shall disclose in writing to 

the Board of Ethics within 24 hours of any such person who requests that the elected official 

contact, either orally or in writing, any other City official or employee with respect to any 

matter involving the person. Such disclosure shall state the name of the person and the 

nature of the business relationship that creates a financial interest on the part of the elected 

official, spouse or domestic partner, or the nature of compensation or income derived in 

the previous or following twelve-month period. The Board of Ethics shall review any 
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disclosure made under this subsection and shall determine whether the elected official has 

provided sufficient details regarding the conflict of interest, and may request more detail if 

it deems that is necessary, and shall post such disclosures, including any additional detail 

submitted by the elected official, on the Board of Ethics website, in a searchable format, 

upon receipt. 

 

Violation of MCC Sect. 2-156-030 by any elected official with respect to this contract will 

be grounds for termination of this contract. The term financial interest is defined as set 

forth in MCC Chapter 2-156. 

 

6.07  Wages 

 

Contractor must pay the highest of (1) prevailing wage/Davis-Bacon rate, if applicable; (2) 

minimum wage specified by Chicago Mayoral Executive Order 2014-1, as adjusted; (3) Chicago 

Minimum Wage rate specified by MCC Chapter 6-105, or (4) the highest applicable State or 

Federal minimum wage. The Chicago minimum wage rates and Mayoral Executive Order wage 

rates increase on July 1 of each year and are posted on the City website. 

 

6.08 Deemed Inclusion 

 

 Provisions required by law, ordinances, rules, regulations or executive orders to be inserted 

in this Agreement are deemed inserted in this Agreement whether or not they appear in this 

Agreement or, upon application by either party, this Agreement will be amended to make the 

insertion; however, in no event will the failure to insert the provisions before or after this 

Agreement is signed prevent its enforcement.  

 

 6.09  Environmental Warranties and Representations 

 

In accordance with Section 11-4-1600(e) of the Municipal Code of Chicago, Contractor 

warrants and represents that it, and to the best of its knowledge, its subcontractors have not violated 

and are not in violation of the following sections of the Code (collectively, the Waste Sections): 

 

7-28-390 Dumping on public way;  

7-28-440 Dumping on real estate without permit;   

11-4-1410 Disposal in waters prohibited;   

11-4-1420 Ballast tank, bilge tank or other discharge;  

11-4-1450 Gas manufacturing residue;  

11-4-1500 Treatment and disposal of solid or liquid waste;  

11-4-1530 Compliance with rules and regulations required;   

11-4-1550 Operational requirements; and  

11-4-1560 Screening requirements.   
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During the period while this Agreement is executory, Contractor’s or any Subcontractor’s 

violation of the Waste Sections, whether or not relating to the performance of this Agreement, 

constitutes a breach of and an event of default under this Agreement, for which the opportunity to 

cure, if curable, will be granted only at the sole designation of the Commissioner.  Such breach 

and default entitles the City to all remedies under the Agreement, at law or in equity. 

 

This section does not limit Contractor’s and its subcontractors’ duty to comply with all 

applicable federal, state, county and municipal laws, statutes, ordinances and executive orders, in 

effect now or later, and whether or not they appear in this Agreement. 

  
 Non-compliance with these terms and conditions may be used by the City as grounds for 

the termination of this Agreement, and may further affect Contractor's eligibility for future contract 

awards. 

 

6.10 EDS / Certification Regarding Suspension and Debarment  

 

 Contractor certifies, as further evidenced in the EDS attached as Exhibit 2, by its 

acceptance of this Agreement that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, 

proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

transaction by any federal department or agency.  Contractor further agrees by executing this 

Agreement that it will include this clause without modification in all lower tier transactions, 

solicitations, proposals, contracts and subcontracts.  If Contractor or any lower tier participant is 

unable to certify to this statement, it must attach an explanation to the Agreement. 

 

6.11 Ethics 

 

(a) In addition to other warranties and representations, Contractor warrants:  

 

(i) no officer, agent or employee of the City is employed by Contractor or has 

a financial interest directly or indirectly in this Agreement or the compensation to be paid under 

this Agreement except as may be permitted in writing by the Board of Ethics established under 

Chapter 2-156 of the Municipal Code.  

 

(ii) no payment, gratuity or offer of employment will be made in connection 

with this Agreement by or on behalf of any Subcontractors to Contractor or higher tier 

Subcontractors or anyone associated with them, as an inducement for the award of a subcontract 

or order.  

 

 (b) Contractor must comply with Chapter 2-156 of the Municipal Code. Contractor 

acknowledges that any Agreement entered into, negotiated or performed in violation of any of the 

provisions of Chapter 2-156, including any contract entered into with any person who has retained 

or employed a non-registered lobbyist in violation of Section 2-156-305 of the Municipal Code is 

voidable as to the City. 
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 6.12 MacBride Ordinance 

 

 The City of Chicago through the passage of the MacBride Principles Ordinance seeks to 

promote fair and equal employment opportunities and labor practices for religious minorities in 

Northern Ireland and provide a better working environment for all citizens in Northern Ireland. 

 

 In accordance with Section 2-92-580 of the Municipal Code of the City of Chicago, if 

Contractor conducts any business operations in Northern Ireland, the Contractor must make all 

reasonable and good faith efforts to conduct any business operations in Northern Ireland in 

accordance with the MacBride Principles for Northern Ireland as defined in Illinois Public Act 85-

1390 (1988 Ill. Laws 3220). 

 

 The provisions of this Section 6.12 do not apply to contracts for which the City receives 

funds administered by the United States Department of Transportation, except to the extent 

Congress has directed that the Department of Transportation not withhold funds from states and 

localities that choose to implement selective purchasing policies based on agreement to comply 

with the MacBride Principles for Northern Ireland, or to the extent that such funds are not 

otherwise withheld by the Department of Transportation. 

 

6.13 Duty to Report Corrupt or Unlawful Activity 

 

 Pursuant to §2-156-018 of the Municipal Code, it is the duty of the Contractor to report to 

the Inspector General, directly and without undue delay, any and all information concerning 

conduct which it knows to involve corrupt activity. “Corrupt Activity” means any conduct set forth 

in Subparagraph (a)(1), (2) or (3) of §1-23-020 of the Municipal Code. Knowing failure to make 

such a report will be an event of default under this Agreement. Reports may be made to the 

Inspector General’s toll free hotline, 866-IG-TIPLINE (866-448-4754). 

 

6.14 Policy Prohibiting Sexual Harassment (Section 2-92-612 of the Chicago 

Municipal Code) 

 

For purposes of this section, “Sexual Harassment” is as defined in MCC 6-10-020.  For the 

avoidance of doubt, Contractor will be considered an “Employer” as defined in MCC 6-10-020. 

 

In accordance with MCC 2-92-612, Contractor must attest by affidavit that Contractor has a 

written policy, compliant with the requirements of MCC 6-10-040, prohibiting Sexual 

Harassment.  The affidavit must be in a form acceptable to the Chief Procurement Officer.  

Contractor’s affidavit is attached as the Exhibit titled “Sexual Harassment Policy Affidavit.” 

 

Contractor’s failure to have a written policy prohibiting Sexual Harassment as provided above 

shall constitute an event of default.  In the event of default, the Chief Procurement Officer shall 

notify Contractor of such noncompliance and may, as appropriate: (i) issue Contractor an 

opportunity to cure consistent with the default provisions in this Agreement; (ii) terminate the 
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contract; or (iii) take any other action consistent with the default provisions in the contract. This 

section shall not be construed to prohibit the City from prosecuting any person who knowingly 

makes a false statement of material fact to the city pursuant to Chapter 1-21 of this Code, or from 

availing itself of any other remedies under contract or law.  

 

6.15 Policy on Disclosure of Salary History (Section 2-92-385 of the Chicago 

Municipal Code) 

 

 For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

 

 “Contract” means any Agreement or transaction pursuant to which a contractor (i) receives 

City funds in consideration for services, work or goods provided or rendered, including contracts 

for legal or other professional services, or (ii) pays the City money in consideration for a license, 

grant or concession allowing it to conduct a business on City premises, and includes any contracts 

not awarded or processed by the Department of Procurement Services. 

 

 “Contractor” means the person to whom a contract is awarded. 

 

 As a condition of contract award, Contractor shall, as prescribed by the Chief Procurement 

Officer, attest by affidavit that Contractor has a policy that conforms to the following requirements:  

 

 (1) Contractor shall not screen job applicants based on their wage or salary history, 

including by requiring that an applicant’s prior wages, including benefits or other compensation, 

satisfy minimum or maximum criteria; or by requesting or requiring an applicant to disclose prior 

wages or salary, either (i) as a condition of being interviewed, (ii) as a condition of continuing to 

be considered for an offer of employment, (iii) as a condition of an offer of employment or an offer 

of compensation, or (iv) as a condition of employment; and 

 

 (2) Contractor shall not seek an applicant’s wage or salary history, including benefits 

or other compensation, from any current or former employer. 

 

 Contractor’s affidavit is included in Appendix C to Contractor’s Economic Disclosure 

Statement.  If Contractor violates the above requirements, Contractor may be deemed ineligible to 

contract with the City; any contract, extension, or renewal thereof awarded in violation of the 

above requirements may be voidable at the option of the City.  Provided, however, that upon a 

finding of a violation by Contractor, no contract shall be voided, terminated, or revoked without 

consideration by the Chief Procurement Officer of such action’s impact on the Contractor’s MBE 

or WBE subcontractors. 
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 ARTICLE 7  EVENTS OF DEFAULT, REMEDIES, TERMINATION, RIGHT  

    TO OFFSET, SUSPENSION 

 

 7.01  Events of Default Defined  

 

 The following constitute events of default: 

 

 A. Any material misrepresentation, whether negligent or willful and whether in the 

inducement or in the performance, made by Contractor to the City. 

 

 B. Contractor's material failure to perform any of its obligations under the Agreement 

including, but not limited to, the following: 

 

(1) failure to commence or ensure timely completion of the Services due to a reason 

or circumstance within Contractor's reasonable control; 

 

(2) failure to perform the Services in a manner satisfactory to the City; 

 

(3) failure to promptly re-perform within a reasonable time Services that were 

rejected as erroneous or unsatisfactory; 

 

 

(4) discontinuance of the Services for reasons within the Contractor's reasonable 

control; 

 

(5) failure to comply with a material term of this Agreement, including but not 

limited to the provisions concerning insurance and nondiscrimination; and 

 

(6) any other acts specifically and expressly stated in this Agreement as constituting 

an event of default. 

 

 C. The Contractor's default under any other agreement it may presently have or may 

enter into with the City during the life of this Agreement.  The Contractor acknowledges and agrees 

that in the event of a default under this Agreement the City may also declare a default under any 

such other agreements. 

   

 7.02  Remedies  

 

 The occurrence of any event of default which the Contractor fails to cure within 14 calendar 

days after receipt of notice specifying such default or which, if such event of default cannot 

reasonably be cured within 14 calendar days after notice, the Contractor fails, in the sole opinion 

of the Commissioner, to commence and continue diligent efforts to cure, permits the City to declare 

the Contractor in default.  Whether to declare the Contractor in default is within the sole discretion 
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of the Commissioner.  Written notification of the default, and any intention of the City to terminate 

the Agreement, shall be provided to Contractor and such decision is final and effective upon 

Contractor's receipt of such notice.  Upon receipt of such notice, the Contractor must discontinue 

any services, unless otherwise directed in the notice, and deliver all materials accumulated in the 

performance of this Agreement, whether completed or in the process of completion, to the City.  

At such time the City may invoke any legal or equitable remedy available to it including, but not 

limited to, the following: 

 

 A. The right to take over and complete the Services or any part thereof as agent for 

and at the cost of the Contractor, either directly or through others.  The Contractor shall have, in 

such event, the right to offset from such cost the amount it would have cost the City under the 

terms and conditions herein had the Contractor completed the Services. 

 

 B. The right to terminate this Agreement as to any or all of the Services yet to be 

performed, effective at a time specified by the City. 

 

 C. The right of specific performance, an injunction or any other appropriate equitable 

remedy. 

 

 D. The right to money damages. 

 

 E. The right to withhold all or any part of Contractor's compensation hereunder. 

 

 

 F. The right to deem Contractor non-responsible in future contracts to be awarded by 

the City. 

 

 If the City considers it to be in its best interest, it may elect not to declare default or to 

terminate this Agreement. The parties acknowledge that this provision is solely for the benefit of 

the City and that if the City permits the Contractor to continue to provide the Services despite one 

or more events of default, the Contractor is in no way relieved of any of its responsibilities, duties 

or obligations under this Agreement nor does the City waive or relinquish any of its rights.  No 

delay or omission to exercise any right accruing upon any event of default impairs any such right 

nor shall it be construed as a waiver of any event of default or acquiescence therein, and every 

such right may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  

 

 7.03  Right to Offset  

  

 The City reserves its rights under § 2-92-380 of the Municipal Code of Chicago and the 

Commissioner shall consult with the SSAC before exercising such rights. 
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 7.04  Suspension  

 

 The City may at any time request that the Contractor suspend its Services, or any part 

thereof, by giving 15 days prior written notice to the Contractor or upon no notice in the event of 

emergency.  No costs incurred after the effective date of such suspension shall be allowed.  The 

Contractor shall promptly resume its performance upon written notice by the Department.  The 

Budget may be revised pursuant to Section 5.02 to account for any additional costs or expenses 

actually incurred by the Contractor as a result of recommencing the Services. 

 

 7.05  No Damages for Delay  

 

 The Contractor agrees that it, its members, if a partnership or joint venture and its 

Subcontractors shall make no claims against the City for damages, charges, additional costs or 

hourly fees for costs incurred by reason of delays or hindrances by the City in the performance of 

its obligations under this Agreement. 

 

 7.06  Early Termination  

 

  In addition to termination for default, the City may, at any time, elect to terminate this 

Agreement or any portion of the Services to be performed under it at the sole discretion of the 

Commissioner by a written notice to the Contractor.  If the City elects to terminate the Agreement 

in full, all Services shall cease and all materials accumulated in performing this Agreement, 

whether completed or in the process of completion, shall be delivered to the Department within 10 

days after receipt of the notice or by the date stated in the notice. 

 

 During the final ten days or other time period stated in the notice, the Contractor shall 

restrict its activities, and those of its Subcontractors, to winding down any reports, analyses, or 

other activities previously begun.  No costs incurred after the effective date of the termination are 

allowed.  Payment for any Services actually and satisfactorily performed before the effective date 

of the termination shall be on the same basis as set forth in Article 5 hereof, but if any compensation 

is described or provided for on the basis of a period longer than ten days, then the compensation 

shall be prorated accordingly. 

 

 If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the City's election to terminate this 

Agreement for default has been wrongful, then such termination shall be deemed to be an early 

termination. 

 

 ARTICLE 8 GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 

 8.01  Entire Agreement  

 

 This Agreement, and the exhibits attached hereto and incorporated hereby, shall constitute 

the entire agreement between the parties and no other warranties, inducements, considerations, 
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promises, or interpretations shall be implied or impressed upon this Agreement that are not 

expressly addressed herein. Any special conditions of or to this Agreement are set forth in the 

Agreement-Specific Information above. 

 

 8.02  Counterparts  

 

 This Agreement is comprised of several identical counterparts, each to be fully executed 

by the parties and each to be deemed an original having identical legal effect. 

 

 8.03  Amendments  

 

 No changes, amendments, modifications or discharge of this Agreement, or any part 

thereof, shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the authorized agent of the Contractor and 

the Commissioner, or their successors and assigns.  The City shall incur no liability for revised 

services without a written amendment to this Agreement pursuant to this Section.  

 

 8.04  Compliance with All Laws  

 

 The Contractor shall at all times observe and comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, 

rules, regulations, statutes, codes and executive orders of the federal, state and local government, 

now existing or hereinafter in effect and as amended whether or not they appear in the Agreement, 

which may in any manner affect the performance of this Agreement.  

 

 Provisions required by law, ordinances, rules, regulations, or executive orders to be 

inserted in the Agreement are deemed inserted in the Agreement whether or not they appear in the 

Agreement. 

 

 Contractor must pay all taxes and obtain all licenses, certificates, and other authorizations 

required in connection with the performance of its obligations hereunder, and Contractor must 

require all Subcontractors to also do so. Failure to do so is an event of default and may result in 

the termination of this Agreement. 

 

 Contractor must provide the City with any record requested by the City related to the 

Contractor’s performance of the Agreement and/or Contractor’s compliance with applicable law. 

 

 8.05  Compliance with ADA and Other Accessibility Laws  

 

 If this Agreement involves services to the public, the Contractor warrants that all Services 

provided hereunder shall comply with all accessibility standards for persons with disabilities or 

environmentally limited persons including, but not limited to the following:  Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 

§§ 793-94.  In the event that the above cited standards are inconsistent, the Contractor shall comply 

with the standard providing greater accessibility. 
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 If this Agreement involves design for construction and/or Construction, the Contractor 

warrants that all design documents produced and/or used under this Agreement shall comply with 

all federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding accessibility standards for persons with 

disabilities or environmentally limited persons including, but not limited to, the following: 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. and the Americans with 

Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines for Buildings and Facilities; the Architectural Barriers 

Act, P.L. 90-480 and the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards; and the Environmental Barriers 

Act, 410 ILCS 25/1 et seq., and the regulations promulgated thereto at Ill. Admin. Code tit. 71, ch. 

1, § 400.110.  In the event that the above cited standards are inconsistent, the Contractor shall 

comply with the standard providing greater accessibility.  If the Contractor fails to comply with 

the foregoing standards, it shall perform again at no expense all services required to be reperformed 

as a direct or indirect result of such failure. 

 

 8.06  Assigns  

 

 All of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, successors, transferees and 

assigns. 

 

 8.07  Cooperation  

 

 The Contractor agrees at all times to cooperate fully with the City and to act in the City's 

best interests.  Upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement, the Contractor shall make 

every effort to assure an orderly transition to another provider of the Services, if any, orderly 

demobilization of its operations in connection with the Services, uninterrupted provision of 

Services during any transition period and shall otherwise comply with reasonable requests of the 

Department in connection with this Agreement's termination or expiration. 

 

 8.08  Severability  

 

 If any provision of this Agreement is held or deemed to be or shall in fact be inoperative 

or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any jurisdiction or in all cases because it 

conflicts with any other provision hereof or of any constitution, statute, ordinance, rule of law or 

public policy, or for any other reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering 

such provision inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstances, or of rendering 

any other provision herein invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable to any extent.  The invalidity of 

any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or sections herein shall not affect the remaining 

portions of this Agreement or any part thereof. 

 

 8.09  Interpretation  

 

 All headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not define or 

limit the provisions thereof. Words of gender are deemed to include correlative words of the other 



 

 

 

 

 27 
 

gender.  Words importing the singular number include the plural number and vice versa, unless 

the context otherwise indicates.  All references to exhibits or documents are deemed to include all 

supplements and/or amendments to such exhibits or documents if entered into in accordance with 

the terms and conditions hereof and thereof.  All references to persons or entities are deemed to 

include any persons or entities succeeding to the rights, duties, and obligations of such persons or 

entities in accordance with the terms and conditions herein. 

         

 8.10  Miscellaneous Provisions  

 

 Whenever under this Agreement the City by a proper authority waives the Contractor's 

performance in any respect or waives a requirement or condition to the Contractor's performance, 

the waiver, whether express or implied, applies only to that particular instance and is not a waiver 

forever or for subsequent instances of the performance, requirement or condition.  No waiver shall 

be construed as a modification of the Agreement regardless of the number of times the City may 

have waived the performance, requirement or condition. 

 

 8.11  Disputes  

 

 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Contractor must and the City may bring 

any dispute arising under this Agreement which is not resolved by the parties to the Chief 

Procurement Officer for decision based upon the written submissions of the parties.  (A copy of 

the "Regulations of the Department of Procurement Services for Resolution of Disputes between 

Contractors and the City of Chicago" is available in City Hall, 121 N. LaSalle Street, Room 301, 

Bid and Bond Room, Chicago, Illinois 60602.)  The Chief Procurement Officer will issue a written 

decision and send it to the Contractor and the SSAC by mail.  The decision of the Chief 

Procurement Officer is final and binding.  The sole and exclusive remedy to challenge the decision 

of the Chief Procurement Officer is judicial review by means of a common law writ of certiorari.   

 

 8.12 Contractor Affidavit 

 

 The Contractor must provide to the City, no later than thirty days after the end of each year 

May 1st of each year, a fully executed and notarized Affidavit certifying the expenditures and 

Services provided for the prior year.  The Contractor must also provide to the City, no later than 

June 1st of each year, a Full-Year Assessment.   The forms of this Affidavit and Full-Year 

Assessment are attached as Exhibit 7 and incorporated by reference.  

 

8.13 Prohibition on Certain Contributions 

 

 No Contractor or any person or entity who directly or indirectly has an ownership or 

beneficial interest in Contractor of more than 7.5% ("Owners"), spouses and domestic partners of 

such Owners, Contractor’s Subcontractors, any person or entity who directly or indirectly has an 

ownership or beneficial interest in any Subcontractor of more than 7.5% ("Sub-owners") and 

spouses and domestic partners of such Sub-owners (Contractor and all the other preceding classes 
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of persons and entities are together, the "Identified Parties"), shall make a contribution of any 

amount to the Mayor of the City of Chicago (the "Mayor") or to his political fundraising committee 

during (i) the bid or other solicitation process for this Contract or Other Contract, including while 

this Contract or Other Contract is executory, (ii) the term of this Contract or any Other Contract 

between City and Contractor, and/or (iii) any period in which an extension of this Contract or 

Other Contract with the City is being sought or negotiated.   

 

Contractor represents and warrants that since the date of public advertisement of the specification, 

request for qualifications, request for proposals or request for information (or any combination of 

those requests) or, if not competitively procured, from the date the City approached the Contractor 

or the date the Contractor approached the City, as applicable, regarding the formulation of this 

Contract, no Identified Parties have made a contribution of any amount to the Mayor or to his 

political fundraising committee. 

 

Contractor shall not:  (a) coerce, compel or intimidate its employees to make a contribution of any 

amount to the Mayor or to the Mayor’s political fundraising committee; (b) reimburse its 

employees for a contribution of any amount made to the Mayor or to the Mayor’s political 

fundraising committee; or (c) bundle or solicit others to bundle contributions to the Mayor or to 

his political fundraising committee. 

 

The Identified Parties must not engage in any conduct whatsoever designed to intentionally violate 

this provision or Mayoral Executive Order No. 2011-4 or to entice, direct or solicit others to 

intentionally violate this provision or Mayoral Executive Order No. 2011-4. 

 

Violation of, non-compliance with, misrepresentation with respect to, or breach of any covenant 

or warranty under this provision or violation of Mayoral Executive Order No. 2011-4 constitutes 

a breach and default under this Contract, and under any Other Contract for which no opportunity 

to cure will be granted.  Such breach and default entitles the City to all remedies (including without 

limitation termination for default) under this Contract, under Other Contract, at law and in equity.  

This provision amends any Other Contract and supersedes any inconsistent provision contained 

therein. 

 

If Contractor violates this provision or Mayoral Executive Order No. 2011-4 prior to award of the 

Contract resulting from this specification, the Commissioner may reject Contractor’s bid. 

 

For purposes of this provision: 

 

“Contractor" means a person who or entity that has submitted a bid for or enters into a Contract 

with the City.  

 

"Contract" means any agreement with the City that is (i) formed under the authority of chapter 2-

92 of the Municipal Code of Chicago; (ii) for the purchase, sale or lease of real or personal 
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property; or (iii) for materials, supplies, equipment or services which are approved and/or 

authorized by the City Council. 

 

"Other Contract" means any agreement entered into between the Contractor and the City that is 

(i) formed under the authority of MCC Ch. 2-92; (ii) for the purchase, sale or lease of real or 

personal property; or (iii) for materials, supplies, equipment or services which are approved and/or 

authorized by the City Council. 

 

"Contribution" means a "political contribution" as defined in MCC Ch. 2-156, as amended.  

 

"Political fundraising committee" means a "political fundraising committee" as defined in MCC 

Ch. 2-156, as amended. 

 

 8.14 Firms Owned or Operated by Individuals with Disabilities 

 

The City encourages Contractors to use Subcontractors that are firms owned or 

operated by individuals with disabilities, as defined by Section 2-92-586 of the Municipal 

Code of the City of Chicago, where not otherwise prohibited by federal or state law. 

 

 

    8.15     No Stated MBE/WBE/VBE Goals 

  

It is the policy of the City of Chicago that local businesses certified as Minority-owned 

Business Enterprises (MBE) and Women-owned Business Enterprises (WBE) in accordance the 

Municipal Code of Chicago Section 2-92-450  and Regulations Governing Certification of 

Minority and Women-owned Businesses shall have the maximum opportunity to participate fully 

in the performance of all City contracts. 

 

 It is the policy of the City of Chicago that local businesses certified as Veteran Business 

Enterprises (VBE) in accordance with Section 2-92-955 of the Municipal Code of Chicago and 

Regulations Governing Certification of Veteran-owned Businesses shall have the maximum 

opportunity to participate fully in the performance of all City contracts. 

 

The Chief Procurement Officer has determined that the nature of the goods and/or services 

to be provided under this Contract are such that direct subcontracting opportunities will not be 

practicable or cost-effective. Therefore, there will be no stated goals for MBE/WBE participation 

or VBE participation in this Contract, and therefore no forms relating to the MBE/WBE program 

or VBE Program are required to be submitted with this Agreement.  This determination is being 

made pursuant to Section 2-92-450 and Section 2-92-955 (c) respectively of the Municipal Code 

of Chicago.  However, the Chief Procurement Officer may require submittal of various 

information regarding MBE/WBEs and VBEs actually participating in the contract for statistical 

purposes.  
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For all things relating to MBE/WBE compliance and VBE compliance, those functions, 

including the ones described in Exhibit 10 Supplemental Contract Terms Relating to Executive 

Order 2021-1, will be performed by the Commissioner and not the Chief Procurement Officer, as 

applicable. However, firms will be certified by DPS. 

 

8.16 Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

 

This Agreement is governed as to performance and interpretation in accordance with 

the laws of the State of Illinois. The Contractor hereby irrevocably submits, and will cause its 

Subcontractors to submit, to the original jurisdiction of those State or Federal courts located 

within the County of Cook, State of Illinois, with regard to any controversy arising out of, 

relating to, or in any way concerning the execution or performance of this Agreement and 

irrevocably agrees to be bound by any final judgment rendered thereby from which no appeal 

has been taken or is available.  The Contractor irrevocably waives any objection (including 

without limitation any objection of the laying of venue or based on the grounds of forum non 

conveniens) which it may now or hereafter have to the bringing of any action or proceeding 

with respect to this Agreement in the jurisdiction set forth above. 

 

ARTICLE 9  NOTICES 

 

Notices provided for herein shall be in writing and may be delivered personally or by 

United States mail, first class, certified, return receipt requested, with postage prepaid and 

addressed as follows: 

 

If to the City:  to the SSAC at the address set forth in the Agreement-

Specific Information above 

 

    and 

     

    Department of Planning and Development 

    City Hall, Room 1000 

    121 North LaSalle Street 

    Chicago, Illinois  60602 

    Attention:  Commissioner 

      

With Copies to:  Department of Law 

    Room 600, City Hall 

    121 North LaSalle Street 

    Chicago, Illinois  60602 

    Attention:  Corporation Counsel 

 

If to Contractor:  at the address set forth in the Agreement-Specific 

Information above 
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Changes in the above-referenced addresses must be in writing and delivered in 

accordance with the provisions of this Section.  Notices delivered by mail shall be deemed 

received 3 days after mailing in accordance with this Section.  Notices delivered personally 

shall be deemed effective upon receipt. 

     

ARTICLE 10 CITY ACTION 

 

In the event that there is no duly constituted SSAC during the term of this Agreement, 

the City will retain all of the rights and obligations afforded to the SSAC hereunder.  

 

 

 ARTICLE 11 INTERPRETATION  

 

 11.01 Interpretation  

 

(a) The term "include" (in all its forms) means "include, without limitation" unless 

the context clearly states otherwise. 

 

(b) All references in this Agreement to Articles, Sections or Exhibits, unless 

otherwise expressed or indicated are to the Articles, Sections or Exhibits of this Agreement. 

 

(c) Words importing persons include firms, associations, partnerships, trusts, 

corporations and other legal entities, including public bodies, as well as natural persons. 

 

(d) Any headings preceding the text of the Articles and Sections of this Agreement, 

and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to it, are solely for convenience or reference 

and do not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor do they affect the meaning, construction or 

effect of this Agreement. 

 

(e) Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa.  Words of the 

masculine gender include the correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders. 

 

(f) All references to a number of days mean calendar days, unless indicated 

otherwise. 

 

 11.02 Order of Precedence 

 

The order of precedence of the component Agreement parts will be as follows: 

• If funded by the Federal Government or State of Illinois, terms required by the Federal 

Government or State of Illinois, as applicable, whether set out in this document, in a Task 

Order Request (if applicable), or otherwise. 
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• STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS, along with AGREEMENT-SPECIFIC 

INFORMATION, reflecting the specific information for this contract that is inserted into 

the Standard terms and conditions 

• All other parts of the Agreement 

 

Provided, however, in the event of an inconsistency between terms set out among different 

component parts of the Agreement, or terms set out within an Agreement part, notwithstanding 

the order of precedence noted above, the term that is most favorable to the City controls, unless 

expressly stated otherwise. 

 

 11.03 Incorporation of Exhibits 

 

The following Exhibits are made a part of this Agreement: 

 

 EXHIBIT 1 Scope of Services & Budget 

            EXHIBIT 1(A) Scope of Services 

 EXHIBIT 1(B) Budget  

 EXHIBIT 2 Economic Disclosure Statement and Affidavit  

  

 11.04 Execution 

 

The parties agree that execution of this Agreement may be accomplished by electronic signature 

and by any other means agreed upon by the parties. 
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EXHIBIT 3 

 

CONTRACTOR INSURANCE PROVISIONS 

 
Department of Planning & Development 
Special Service Areas 

 

Contractor must provide and maintain at Contractor’s own expense, during the term of 

the Agreement and during the time period following expiration if Contractor is required to 

return and perform any work, services, or operations, the insurance coverages and 

requirements specified below, insuring all work, services, or operations related to the 

Agreement. 

 

A. INSURANCE REQUIRED 

1)   Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability  

Workers’ Compensation Insurance, as prescribed by applicable law covering all 

employees who are to provide a service under this Agreement and Employer’s Liability 

coverage with limits of not less than $1,000,000 each accident; $1,000,000 disease-policy 

limit and $1,000,000 disease-each employee, or the full per occurrence limits of the policy, 

whichever is greater.  

The Contractor may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policy/policies to 

satisfy the limits of liability required herein. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must 

provide the same coverages/follow form as the underlying policy/policies. 

2)   Commercial General Liability 

Commercial General Liability Insurance or equivalent must be maintained with limits of 

not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury, 

personal injury, and property damage liability. Coverages must include but not be limited 

to, the following: all premises and operations, products/completed operations (for a 

minimum of two (2) years following project completion), explosion, collapse, underground, 

separation of insureds, defense, contractual liability (not to include endorsement CG 21 

39 or equivalent), no exclusion for damage to work performed by Subcontractors, any 

limitation of coverage for designated premises or project is not permitted (not to include 

endorsement CG 21 44 or equivalent) and any endorsement modifying or deleting the 

exception to the Employer’s Liability exclusion is not permitted. Where the general 

aggregate limit applies, the general aggregate must apply per project/location and once 
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per policy period if applicable, or Contractor may obtain separate insurance to provide the 

required limits which will not be subject to depletion because of claims arising out of any 

other work or activity of Contractor. If a general aggregate applies to products/completed 

operations, the general aggregate limits must apply per project and once per policy 

period.  

The City must be provided additional insured status with respect to liability arising out of 

Contractor’s work, services or operations and completed operations performed on behalf 

of the City. Such additional insured coverage must be provided on ISO form CG 2010 10 

01 and CG 2037 10 01 or on an endorsement form at least as broad for ongoing 

operations and completed operations. The City’s additional insured status must apply to 

liability and defense of suits arising out of Contractor’s acts or omissions, whether such 

liability is attributable to the Contactor or to the City. The full policy limits and scope of 

protection also will apply to the City as an additional insured, even if they exceed the 

City’s minimum limits required herein. A copy of the physical “Additional Insured” 

endorsement must accompany the Certificate of Insurance when submitted. Contractor’s 

liability insurance must be primary without right of contribution by any other insurance or 

self-insurance maintained by or available to the City.  

The Contractor may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policy/policies to 

satisfy the limits of liability required herein. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must 

provide the same coverages/follow form as the underlying policy/policies. 

3)   Automobile Liability 

A Business Auto Policy covering any motor vehicles (owned, non-owned and hired) which 

are used in connection with work, services, or operations to be performed, must be 

maintained by the Contractor. Limits of not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 

injury and property damage and covering the ownership, maintenance, or use of any auto 

whether owned, leased, non-owned or hired used in the performance of the work or 

services. The City is to be added as an additional insured on a primary, non-contributory 

basis. A copy of the physical “Additional Insured” endorsement must accompany the 

Certificate of Insurance when submitted. 

The Contractor may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policy/policies to 

satisfy the limits of liability required herein. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must 

provide the same coverages/follow form as the underlying policy/policies. 

4)   Umbrella or Excess 

Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance must be maintained with limits of not less than 
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$2,000,000 per occurrence, or the full per occurrence limits of the policy, whichever is 

greater. The policy/policies must provide the same coverages/follow form as the 

underlying Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability, Employers Liability and 

Completed Operations coverage required herein and expressly provide that the Excess 

or Umbrella policy/policies will drop down over reduced and/or exhausted aggregate limit, 

if any, of the underlying insurance. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must be primary 

without the right of contribution by any other insurance or self-insurance maintained by or 

available to the City. 

The Contractor may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policies to satisfy 

the limits of liability required under Workers’ Compensation, Employer’s Liability, 

Commercial General Liability, and Automobile Liability. 

 

5)   Professional Liability 

When any professional consultants (e.g., CPA’s, Attorneys, Architects, Engineers) 

perform work, services, or operations in connection with this Agreement, Professional 

Liability Insurance covering acts, errors, or omissions must be maintained with limits of 

not less than $2,000,000 per claim. Coverage must include, but not be limited to, 

technology errors and omissions and pollution liability if environmental site assessments 

are conducted, when applicable. When policies are renewed or replaced, the policy 

retroactive date must coincide with, or precede start of work under the Agreement. A 

claims-made policy which is not renewed or replaced must have an extended reporting 

period of two (2) years. 

6)   Cyber Liability and Tech E & O Insurance 

If any personal identifiable information, personal identifiable credit information, protected 

health information is processed, collected, and maintained, or if City’s network or systems 

 

Insurance coverages that begin with “when,” “if,” or “where,” are considered conditional, 

and it is the Contractor’s responsibility to obtain the applicable coverage when performing 

such work, service, or operation as described in the conditional coverage paragraph(s). If 

it is determined that a conditional coverage is not initially applicable, it is the Contractor’s 

continuing responsibility to update the insurance coverage as needed. If at any time, the 

Contractor or City determines that a conditional coverage is applicable, the Contractor 

shall not perform the work, service, or operation in connection with the contract until 

evidence of all applicable insurance coverage is provided to the City. 
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are accessed by Contractor, Cyber Liability must be maintained with limits of not less than 

$5,000,000 for cyber incident and coverage must include the following: 

• Liability for network security failures or privacy breaches, including loss or 

unauthorized access, use or disclosure of City of Chicago data, whether by 

Vendor or any subcontractor or cloud service provider used by Vendor; 

• Costs associated with a privacy breach, including notification of affected 

individuals, customer support, forensics, crises management / public relations 

consulting, legal services of a privacy attorney, credit monitoring and identity 

fraud resolution services for affected individuals; 

• Expenses related to regulatory compliance, government investigations, fines, 

fees, assessments, and penalties where insurable by law; 

• Liability for technological products and services provided by or created by 

Vendor, including intellectual property infringement or misappropriation. 

• Liability for professional services provided by Vendor; 

• PCI fines, fees, penalties, and assessments; 

• Cyber extortion payment and response costs; 

• First and Third-Party Business Interruption Loss resulting from a network 

security failure or system failure; 

• Costs of restoring, updating, or replacing data; and 

• Liability losses connected to network security, privacy, and media liability. 

The City must be named as an additional insured. A copy of the physical 'Additional 

Insured' endorsement must accompany the Certificate of Insurance when submitted. 

Certificates of Insurance and Additional Insured Endorsements reflecting applicable 

limits, sub-limits, self-insured retentions and deductibles must be provided upon request. 

The certificate must confirm the required coverages in the “Additional Comments” section 

or Contractor must provide a copy of the declarations page confirming the details of the 

cyber insurance policy. Contractor will be responsible for all deductibles, self-insured 

retentions or waiting period requirements. Contractor shall provide any coverage sublimits 

under the policy. In the event Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits 

than the minimums shown above, the City of Chicago shall be entitled to the broader 

coverage and/or higher limits maintained by Contractor. Any available insurance 

proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be 

available. If the Cyber Liability and Tech E&O policy is written on a claims-made basis, 

the retroactive date should be prior to the commencement of this agreement/addendum. 

If the policy is written on a claims-made basis and non-renewed at any time during and 

up until the completion of the project or services, Contractor shall maintain coverage that 

meets these requirements for a period of not less than three years from the date of 

completion of the project or services with a retroactive date prior to the commencement 
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of the project or services or shall purchase an Extended Reporting Period for at least a 

three year period. All insurance carrier(s) must carry an A.M. Best rating of at least A-, 

Class VIII. 

7)   Blanket Crime 

When applicable, Contractor must maintain Crime Insurance or equivalent covering all 

persons handling funds under this Agreement, against loss by employee dishonesty, 

forgery or alteration, funds transfer fraud, robbery, theft, destruction or disappearance, 

computer fraud, credit card forgery, and other related crime risks. The policy limit shall be 

written to cover losses in the amount of the maximum monies collected or received and 

in the possession of Contractor at any given time under this Agreement. 

8)   Property 

Contractor is responsible for all loss or damage to City property at full replacement cost 

as a result of the Agreement.  

Contractor is responsible for all loss or damage to personal property (including 

materials, equipment, tools and supplies) owned, rented or used by Contractor. 

 

B. Security Firms 

If the Contractor enters into a subcontract with a Security Firm, such Security Firm must 

be certified by the State of Illinois, and the Security Firm’s employees must be registered 

and certified by the State. Contractor must ensure and require any Security Firm 

subcontractor to comply with the Risk Management Division approved Security Firm 

Insurance Provision set forth in Exhibit 4 of this Agreement, attached hereto and 

incorporated by references as through fully set forth herein. 

 

C. Additional Requirements 

Evidence of Insurance.  Contractor must furnish the City of Chicago, Department of 

Planning and Development (DPD), City Hall Room 1000, 121 North LaSalle Street 60602, 

original Certificates of Insurance (COI) and additional insured endorsement, or other 

evidence of insurance, to be in force on the date of this Agreement, and renewal COIs 

and endorsement, or such similar evidence, if the coverages have an expiration or 

renewal date occurring during the term of this Agreement. The Contractor must submit 

evidence of insurance prior to execution of Agreement. The receipt of any COI does not 

constitute agreement by the City that the insurance requirements in the Agreement have 
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been fully met or that the insurance policies indicated on the COI are in compliance with 

all requirements of the Agreement. The failure of the City to obtain, nor the City’s receipt 

of, or failure to object to a non-complying insurance certificate, endorsement or other 

insurance evidence from Contractor, its insurance broker(s) and/or insurer(s) will not be 

construed as a waiver by the City of any of the required insurance provisions. Contractor 

must advise all insurers of the Agreement provisions regarding insurance. The City in no 

way warrants that the insurance required herein is sufficient to protect the Contractor for 

liabilities which may arise from or relate to the Agreement. The City reserves the right to 

obtain complete, certified copies of any required insurance policies at any time. 

Failure to Maintain Insurance.  Failure of the Contractor to comply with required coverage 

and terms and conditions outlined herein will not limit Contractor’s liability or responsibility 

nor does it relieve Contractor of the obligation to provide insurance as specified in this 

Agreement. Nonfulfillment of the insurance conditions may constitute a violation of the 

Agreement, and the City retains the right to suspend this Agreement until proper evidence 

of insurance is provided, or the Agreement may be terminated. 

Notice of Material Change, Cancellation or Non-Renewal.  Consistent with State law, 

Contractor must provide for sixty (60) days prior written notice to be given to the City in 

the event coverage is substantially changed, canceled or non-renewed and ten (10) days 

prior written notice for non-payment of premium. See 215 ILCS 5/143.16 and 143.17(a). 

A copy of the physical endorsements must accompany the Certificate of Insurance for 

General Liability, Automobile Liability and Workers Compensation in order to comply with 

the insurance requirements. 

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions on 

referenced insurance coverages must be borne by Contractor. 

Waiver of Subrogation.  Contractor hereby waives its rights and its insurer(s)’ rights of, 

and agrees to require their insurers to waive their rights of, subrogation against the City 

under all required insurance herein for any loss arising from or relating to this Agreement. 

The Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this 

waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether the City receives 

a waiver of subrogation endorsement for Contractor’s insurer(s). 

Contractors Insurance Primary.  All insurance required of Contractor under this 

Agreement shall be endorsed to state that Contractor’s insurance policy is primary and 

not contributory with any insurance carrier by the City. 

Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct 

business in the state with a current A.M. Best rating of no less than A-, Class VIII, unless 
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otherwise approved by the City. 

No Limitation as to Contractor’s Liabilities.  The coverages and limits furnished by the 

Contractor in no way limit the Contractor’s liabilities and responsibilities specified within 

the Agreement or by law. 

No Contribution by the City.  Any insurance or self-insurance programs maintained by the 

City do not contribute with insurance provided by Contractor under this Agreement. 

Insurance not Limited by Indemnification.  The required insurance to be carried is not 

limited by any limitations expressed in the indemnification language in this Agreement or 

any limitation placed on the indemnity in this Agreement given as a matter of law.   

Insurance and Limits Maintained.  If Contractor maintains higher limits and/or broader 

coverage than the minimums shown herein, the City requires and shall be entitled the 

higher limits and/or broader coverage maintained by Contractor. Any available insurance 

proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be 

available to the City. 

Joint Venture or Limited Liability Company.  If Contractor is a joint venture or limited 

liability company, the insurance policies must name the joint venture or limited liability 

company as a named insured.  

Other Insurance obtained by Contractor.  If Contractor desires additional coverages, the 

Contractor will be responsible for the acquisition and cost. 

Insurance required of Subcontractors. Contractor shall name the Subcontractor(s) as a 

named insured(s) under Contractor’s insurance or Contractor will require each 

Subcontractor(s) to provide and maintain Commercial General Liability, Commercial 

Automobile Liability, Worker’s Compensation, Employers Liability and Professional 

Liability Insurance, and when applicable Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance with 

coverage at least as broad as in outlined in Section A, Insurance Required. The limits of 

coverage will be determined by Contractor. Contractor shall determine if Subcontractor(s) 

must also provide any additional coverage or other coverage outlined in Section A, 

Insurance Required. The Contractor is responsible for ensuring that each Subcontractor 

has named the City of Chicago as an additional insured where required, as well as 

specifically naming the City of Chicago as an additional insured on any endorsement form 

at least as broad and acceptable to the City. The Contractor is also responsible for 

ensuring that each Subcontractor has complied with the required coverage and terms and 

conditions outlined in this Section B, Additional Requirements. When requested by the 

City, the Contractor must provide to the City Certificates of Insurance and additional 
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insured endorsements or other evidence of insurance. The City reserves the right to 

obtain complete, certified copies of any required insurance policies at any time. Failure of 

the Subcontractor(s) to comply with required coverage and terms and conditions outlined 

herein will not limit Contractor’s liability or responsibility. 

City’s Right to Modify.  Notwithstanding any provisions in the Agreement to the contrary, 

the City, Department of Finance, Risk Management Division maintains the right to modify, 

delete, alter or change these requirements. 
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EXHIBIT 4 

  

SECURITY FIRM INSURANCE PROVISIONS 

 
Department of Planning & Development 

Special Service Areas 
 

 

Security Firm must provide and maintain at Security Firm’s own expense, during the term 

of the Agreement and during the time period following expiration if Security Firm is 

required to return and perform any work, services, or operations, the insurance coverages 

and requirements specified below, insuring all work, services, or operations related to the 

Agreement. 

 

A. INSURANCE REQUIRED 

1)   Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability 

Workers’ Compensation Insurance, as prescribed by applicable law covering all 

employees who are to provide a service under this Agreement and Employer’s Liability 

coverage with limits of not less than $1,000,000 each accident; $1,000,000 disease-policy 

limit and $1,000,000 disease-each employee, or the full per occurrence limits of the policy, 

whichever is greater.  

Security Firm may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policy/policies to 

satisfy the limits of liability required herein. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must 

provide the same coverages/follow form as the underlying policy/policies. 

2)   Commercial General Liability 

Commercial General Liability Insurance or equivalent must be maintained with limits of 

not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury, 

personal injury, and property damage liability. Coverages must include but not be limited 

to, the following: All premises and operations, products/completed operations, separation 

of insureds, extended bodily injury, assault and battery when using physical force to 

protect persons or property, false or wrongful arrest, detention or imprisonment, medical 

payments, defense, and contractual liability (not to include endorsement CG 21 39 or 

equivalent). No exclusion for damage to work performed by Subcontractors, any limitation 

of coverage for designated premises or project is not permitted (not to include 

endorsement CG 21 44 or equivalent) and any endorsement modifying or deleting the 
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exception to the Employer’s Liability exclusion is not permitted. Where the general 

aggregate limit applies, the general aggregate must apply per project/location and once 

per policy period if applicable, or Security Firm may obtain separate insurance to provide 

the required limits which will not be subject to depletion because of claims arising out of 

any other work or activity of Security Firm. If a general aggregate applies to 

products/completed operations, the general aggregate limits must apply per project and 

once per policy period.  

The City and Contractor must be provided additional insured status with respect to liability 

arising out of Security Firm’s work, services or operations and completed operations 

performed on behalf of the City and Contractor. Such additional insured coverage must 

be provided on ISO form CG 2010 10 01 and CG 2037 10 01 or on an endorsement form 

at least as broad for ongoing operations and completed operations. The City’s and 

Contractor’s additional insured status must apply to liability and defense of suits arising 

out of Security Firm’s acts or omissions, whether such liability is attributable to the City or 

to the Contractor. The full policy limits and scope of protection also will apply to the City 

and Contractor as an additional insured, even if they exceed the City’s and Contractor’s 

minimum limits required herein. A copy of the physical “Additional Insured” endorsement 

must accompany the Certificate of Insurance when submitted. Security Firm’s liability 

insurance must be primary without right of contribution by any other insurance or self-

insurance maintained by or available to the City and Contractor.  

Security Firm may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policy/policies to 

satisfy the limits of liability required herein. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must 

provide the same coverages/follow form as the underlying policy/policies. 

3)   Automobile Liability 

A Business Auto Policy covering any motor vehicles (owned, non-owned and hired) which 

are used in connection with work, services, or operations to be performed, must be 

maintained by Security Firm. Limits of not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 

injury and property damage and covering the ownership, maintenance, or use of any auto 

whether owned, leased, non-owned or hired used in the performance of the work or 

services. The City and Contractor are to be added as an additional insured on a primary, 

non-contributory basis. A copy of the physical “Additional Insured” endorsement must 

accompany the Certificate of Insurance when submitted. 

Security Firm may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policy/policies to 

satisfy the limits of liability required herein. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must 

provide the same coverages/follow form as the underlying policy/policies. 
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4)   Umbrella or Excess 

Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance must be maintained with limits of not less than 

$2,000,000 per occurrence, or the full per occurrence limits of the policy, whichever is 

greater. The policy/policies must provide the same coverages/follow form as the 

underlying Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability, Employers Liability and 

Completed Operations coverage required herein and expressly provide that the Excess 

or Umbrella policy/policies will drop down over reduced and/or exhausted aggregate limit, 

if any, of the underlying insurance. The Excess/Umbrella policy/policies must be primary 

without the right of contribution by any other insurance or self-insurance maintained by or 

available to the City and Contractor. 

Security Firm may use a combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella policies to satisfy 

the limits of liability required under Workers’ Compensation, Employer’s Liability, 

Commercial General Liability, and Automobile Liability. 

5)   Professional Liability 

Professional Liability Insurance covering acts, errors, or omissions must be maintained 

with limits of not less than $2,000,000 per claim. Coverage must include contractual 

liability for liability of others including the SSA and the City of Chicago assumed under 

any written contract or agreement for breach of professional services or duty caused by 

or on behalf of the Security Firm. When policies are renewed or replaced, the policy 

retroactive date must coincide with, or precede start of work under the Agreement. A 

claims-made policy which is not renewed or replaced must have an extended reporting 

period of two (2) years. 

Insurance coverages that begin with “when,” “if,” or “where,” are considered conditional, and it is 

Security Firm’s responsibility to obtain the applicable coverage when performing such work, 

service, or operation as described in the conditional coverage paragraph(s). If it is determined that 

a conditional coverage is not initially applicable, it is Security Firm’s continuing responsibility to 

update the insurance coverage as needed. If at any time, the Contractor or City determines that a 

conditional coverage is applicable, Security Firm shall not perform the work, service, or operation 

in connection with the contract until evidence of all applicable insurance coverage is provided to 

the City or Contractor. 

 

6)   Cyber Liability and Tech E & O Insurance (when applicable) 

If any personal identifiable information, personal identifiable credit information, protected 

health information is processed, collected, and maintained, or if City’s network or systems 
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are accessed by Security Firm; Cyber Liability must be maintained with limits of not less 

than $5,000,000 for cyber incident and coverage must include the following: 

• Liability for network security failures or privacy breaches, including loss or 

unauthorized access, use or disclosure of City of Chicago data, whether by 

Security Firm or any subcontractor or cloud service provider used by Security 

Firm; 

• Costs associated with a privacy breach, including notification of affected 

individuals, customer support, forensics, crises management / public relations 

consulting, legal services of a privacy attorney, credit monitoring and identity 

fraud resolution services for affected individuals; 

• Expenses related to regulatory compliance, government investigations, fines, 

fees, assessments, and penalties where insurable by law; 

• Liability for technological products and services provided by or created by 

Security Firm, including intellectual property infringement or misappropriation. 

• Liability for professional services provided by Vendor; 

• PCI fines, fees, penalties, and assessments; 

• Cyber extortion payment and response costs; 

• First and Third-Party Business Interruption Loss resulting from a network 

security failure or system failure; 

• Costs of restoring, updating, or replacing data; and 

• Liability losses connected to network security, privacy, and media liability. 

The City and Contractor must be named as an additional insured. A copy of the physical 

'Additional Insured' endorsement must accompany the Certificate of Insurance when 

submitted. Certificates of Insurance and Additional Insured Endorsements reflecting 

applicable limits, sub-limits, self-insured retentions and deductibles must be provided 

upon request. The certificate must confirm the required coverages in the “Additional 

Comments” section or Security Firm must provide a copy of the declarations page 

confirming the details of the cyber insurance policy. Security Firm will be responsible for 

all deductibles, self-insured retentions or waiting period requirements. Security Firm shall 

provide any coverage sublimits under the policy. In the event Security Firm maintains 

broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, the City of 

Chicago shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or higher limits maintained by 

Security Firm. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits 

of insurance and coverage shall be available. If the Cyber Liability and Tech E&O policy 

is written on a claims-made basis, the retroactive date should be prior to the 

commencement of this agreement/addendum. If the policy is written on a claims-made 

basis and non-renewed at any time during and up until the completion of the project or 

services, Security Firm shall maintain coverage that meets these requirements for a 
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period of not less than three years from the date of completion of the project or services 

with a retroactive date prior to the commencement of the project or services or shall 

purchase an Extended Reporting Period for at least a three year period. All insurance 

carrier(s) must carry an A.M. Best rating of at least A-, Class VIII. 

7)   Blanket Crime 

When applicable, Security Firm must maintain Crime Insurance or equivalent covering all 

persons handling funds under this Agreement, against loss by employee dishonesty, 

forgery or alteration, funds transfer fraud, robbery, theft, destruction or disappearance, 

computer fraud, credit card forgery, and other related crime risks. The policy limit shall be 

written to cover losses in the amount of the maximum monies collected or received and 

in the possession of Security Firm at any given time under this Agreement. 

 

B. Additional Requirements 

Evidence of Insurance.  Security Firm must furnish the Contractor and the City of Chicago 

Department of Planning and Development (DPD), City Hall Room 1000, 121 North 

LaSalle Street, Chicago, IL 60602, Certificates of Insurance (COI) and additional insured 

endorsement, or other evidence of insurance, to be in force on the date of this Agreement, 

and renewal COIs and endorsement, or such similar evidence, if the coverages have an 

expiration or renewal date occurring during the term of this Agreement. The Security Firm 

must submit evidence of insurance prior to execution of Agreement. The receipt of any 

COI does not constitute agreement by the City that the insurance requirements in the 

Agreement have been fully met or that the insurance policies indicated on the COI are in 

compliance with all requirements of the Agreement. The failure of the City to obtain, nor 

the City’s receipt of, or failure to object to a non-complying insurance certificate, 

endorsement or other insurance evidence from Security Firm, its insurance broker(s) 

and/or insurer(s) will not be construed as a waiver by the City of any of the required 

insurance provisions. Security Firm must advise all insurers of the Agreement provisions 

regarding insurance. The City in no way warrants that the insurance required herein is 

sufficient to protect Security Firm for liabilities which may arise from or relate to the 

Agreement. The City reserves the right to obtain complete, certified copies of any required 

insurance policies at any time. 

Failure to Maintain Insurance.  Failure of the Security Firm to comply with required 

coverage and terms and conditions outlined herein will not limit Security Firm’s liability or 

responsibility nor does it relieve Security Firm of the obligation to provide insurance as 

specified in this Agreement. Nonfulfillment of the insurance conditions may constitute a 
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violation of the Agreement, and the City retains the right to suspend this Agreement until 

proper evidence of insurance is provided, or the Agreement may be terminated. 

Notice of Material Change, Cancellation or Non-Renewal.  Consistent with State law, 

Security Firm must provide for sixty (60) days prior written notice to be given to the 

Contractor and the City in the event coverage is substantially changed, canceled or non-

renewed and ten (10) days prior written notice for non-payment of premium. See 215 

ILCS 5/143.16 and 143.17(a). A copy of the physical endorsements must accompany the 

Certificate of Insurance for General Liability, Automobile Liability and Workers 

Compensation in order to comply with the insurance requirements. 

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions on 

referenced insurance coverages must be borne by Security Firm. 

Waiver of Subrogation.  Security Firm hereby waives its rights and its insurer(s)’ rights of, 

and agrees to require their insurers to waive their rights of, subrogation against the 

Contractor and City under all required insurance herein for any loss arising from or relating 

to this Agreement. The Security Firm agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be 

necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of 

whether the Contractor and the City receives a waiver of subrogation endorsement for 

Security Firm’s insurer(s). 

Contractors Insurance Primary.  All insurance required of Security Firm under this 

Agreement shall be endorsed to state that Security’s Firms insurance policy is primary 

and not contributory with any insurance carrier by the Contract or the City. 

Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct 

business in the state with a current A.M. Best rating of no less than A-, Class VIII, unless 

otherwise approved by the City. 

No Limitation as to Contractor’s Liabilities.  The coverages and limits furnished by the 

Security Firm in no way limit the Security Firm’s liabilities and responsibilities specified 

within the Agreement or by law. 

No Contribution by the City.  Any insurance or self-insurance programs maintained by the 

City do not contribute with insurance provided by Security Firm under this Agreement. 

Insurance not Limited by Indemnification.  The required insurance to be carried is not 

limited by any limitations expressed in the indemnification language in this Agreement or 

any limitation placed on the indemnity in this Agreement given as a matter of law.   
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Insurance and Limits Maintained.  If Security Firm maintains higher limits and/or broader 

coverage than the minimums shown herein, the City and the Contractor requires and shall 

be entitled the higher limits and/or broader coverage maintained by Security Firm. Any 

available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and 

coverage shall be available to the Contractor and the City of Chicago. 

Joint Venture or Limited Liability Company.  If Security Firm is a joint venture or limited 

liability company, the insurance policies must name the joint venture or limited liability 

company as a named insured.  

Other Insurance obtained by Contractor.  If Security Firm desires additional coverages, 

the Security Firm will be responsible for the acquisition and cost. 

Insurance required of Subcontractors. Security Firm shall name the Subcontractor(s) as 

a named insured(s) under Security Firm’s insurance or Security Firm will require each 

Subcontractor(s) to provide and maintain Commercial General Liability, Commercial 

Automobile Liability, Worker’s Compensation, Employers Liability and Professional 

Liability Insurance, and when applicable Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance with 

coverage at least as broad as in outlined in Section A, Insurance Required. The limits of 

coverage will be determined by Security Firm. Security Firm shall determine if 

Subcontractor(s) must also provide any additional coverage or other coverage outlined in 

Section A, Insurance Required. The Security Firm is responsible for ensuring that each 

Subcontractor has named the City of Chicago as an additional insured where required, 

as well as specifically naming the City of Chicago as an additional insured on any 

endorsement form at least as broad and acceptable to the City. The Security Firm is also 

responsible for ensuring that each Subcontractor has complied with the required 

coverage and terms and conditions outlined in this Section B, Additional Requirements. 

When requested by the City, the Security Firm must provide to the City Certificates of 

Insurance and additional insured endorsements or other evidence of insurance. The City 

reserves the right to obtain complete, certified copies of any required insurance policies 

at any time. Failure of the Subcontractor(s) to comply with required coverage and terms 

and conditions outlined herein will not limit Security Firm’s liability or responsibility. 

City’s Right to Modify.  Notwithstanding any provisions in the Agreement to the contrary, 

the City, Department of Finance, Risk Management Division maintains the right to modify, 

delete, alter or change these requirements. 
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EXHIBIT 5 

 

Prevailing Wages 
 

 

https://labor.illinois.gov/laws-rules/conmed/current-prevailing-rates.html

https://labor.illinois.gov/laws-rules/conmed/current-prevailing-rates.html
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EXHIBIT 6 

 

Performance Bond Form 
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EXHIBIT 7 

 

Contractor Affidavit 

 
Contractor Name: 

Special Service Area Number: 

Agreement (“Agreement”):  

 

Agreement between the City of Chicago and ______________________ dated    

____________________, relating to the provision of special services. 

 

AFFIDAVIT 

 

The undersigned, ______________________, as________________________, and on behalf 

of_______________________, having been duly sworn under oath, certifies that in the 

year_______________, it performed that portion of the Services described in Exhibit 1 of the Agreement 

in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, to the extent described in the attached Full-Year Assessment 

Form and that it spent that portion of funds obtained from the City in connection with that Agreement on 

the Services described in Exhibit 1, to the extent described in the attached Full-Year Assessment Form .  

The Full-Year Assessment Form shall be in the form prescribed by the City and shall contain such level of 

detail as the City may require from time to time.  

 

Nothing in this Affidavit may be construed as limiting Contractor’s obligations under the Agreement.  All 

terms not defined in this Affidavit will be as defined in the Agreement. 

 

Under penalty of perjury, I certify that I am authorized to execute this Affidavit on behalf of the Contractor, 

that I have personal knowledge of the certifications made in this Affidavit, and that they are true and correct.     

 

NAME OF CONTRACTOR: 

____________________________________ 

 

Signature of Authorized Officer 

_________________________ 

 

Name of Authorized Officer (Print or Type) 

______________________________________ 

 
State of__________________ 

County of ________________ 

 

Sworn to and acknowledged before me by ___________________________________ [name of signatory] as 

_____________________  [title] of __ _________________________ _______________________[name of 

contracting party] this _________ day of __________, 20_______. 

 

_____________________ 

Signature of Notary  



 

 

 

 

 57 
 

 

FULL-YEAR ASSESSMENT FORM 
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EXHIBIT 8 

 

Special Service Area - Additional Audit Requirements 

 

Accounting System 

 

The Department requires that the Contractor maintain its accounting system in a manner which 

allows the Contractor’s expenditures to be categorized in its statement of activities according to 

the categories listed in the budget approved by the City for each Area. 

 

Guidance for the Contractor’s Selection of a CPA Firm (Independent Auditor) 

 

The Contractor must use the following guidelines for engaging a qualified CPA Firm: 

 

1. Issue a Request for Proposal (“RFP”) that sets forth all of the terms and conditions of the 

engagement, evaluation criteria, and scope of the work required. Audit firm evaluations 

can replace an annual RFP process; an RFP process every three years is preferred. 

2. Distribute and publicize the RFP sufficiently to ensure full and open competition. 

3. Request in the RFP that bidders provide detail on: 

a. How the CPA Firm will conduct the audit. 

b. Qualifications of the CPA Firm, management, and staff, including experience in 

auditing like entities. 

c. Policies on notification of changes in key personnel. 

d. Whether the proposed staff has received continuing professional education that is 

relevant to the performance of this engagement during the previous 2 years,  

e. Whether the CPA Firm has received a positive peer review within the last 3 years. 

f. Whether the CPA Firm is independent, as defined by applicable auditing standards. 

g. Whether the CPA Firm has been the object of any disciplinary action during the 

past 3 years. 

h. Confirmation the CPA Firm and key personnel assigned to this engagement 

maintains an active license in the State of Illinois and attached a copy of a current 

license with the RFP response or annually. 

i. Confirmation the CPA Firm is not on the City’s debarred vendor list. 

j. The audit fee. 

 

4. Evaluate the proposals based on: 

a. The CPA Firm’s understanding of the audit requirements, including the needs of 

the Area and the final products to be delivered. 

b. Soundness of technical approach to the audit, including the meeting of the 

Contractor’s specific deadlines and other requirements. 

c. Qualifications of the CPA Firm. 

d. Qualifications of the audit team. 

e. The information provided by respondents in response to the RFP, including cost 
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and independence. 

 

5.  Rate the proposals as follows: 

a. Proposals should be evaluated as submitted. 

b. Make a list of strengths and weaknesses for each to support its technical rating. 

c. Review the proposed fees offered by the bidders after completion of the technical 

evaluation. 

d. Ask questions of the bidders to eliminate any ambiguities. 

e. Select a proposal that is most advantageous to the Area based on the evaluation 

criteria set forth in the RFP. 

 

6. Once a CPA Firm is chosen based upon the foregoing criteria, require a written engagement 

letter to avoid misunderstandings that specifies: 

a. Audit scope, objectives, and purposes. 

b. Deadlines for the work to be performed. 

c. Audit fees. 

d. Report format, including providing a PDF digital version of the final audit. 

e. Type and timing of support to be provided to the CPA Firm by the Special Service 

Area Commission (“SSAC”). 

f. Professional auditing standards to be followed in performing the audit. 

g. Independence of the CPA Firm to the SSAC. 

h. Terms of making changes to the scope of the agreement. 

i. CPA Firm’s ownership of the work papers, retention period, and requirement for 

availability to the City upon request. 

 

Summary Schedule of Findings. 

 

In order to properly conduct the certified audit of the books and records of the Contractor, it is 

necessary for the CPA Firm to read and understand the requirements contained in the Agreement.  

Particular attention should be given to Sections 3 and 5 of the Agreement.  

 

The CPA Firm must test the Contractor’s compliance with the requirements contained in the 

Agreement.  Should the CPA Firm find exception to the requirements of the Agreement, it must 

disclose all exceptions in a separate schedule, which shall be entitled “Summary Schedule of 

Findings”.  Each finding shall be listed separately. The schedule shall be incorporated with the 

other required financial statements. 

 

If the CPA Firm finds no exceptions to the Agreement requirements, it shall still include a 

“Summary Schedule of Findings”.  On that schedule the CPA Firm shall make an affirmative 

statement indicating it has read the Agreement and, after conducting the audit, has determined that 

no exceptions were noted. 

    

Subsections to note in Section 5 include: 
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a. Section 5.01, Basis of Payment, describes “carry over” as the amount of Service 

Tax Funds collected for prior tax years which remain previously unspent.  

b. Section 5.02, Budget for Services, restricts the maximum amount that may be spent 

in a calendar year to the amount stated in the Agreement. 

c. Section 5.03, Method of Payment, states that the Contractor shall establish a 

separate checking account and that Area funds shall not be commingled with other 

sources. 

 

Audit of Financial Statements 

 

As discussed in Section 3.07, “Records and Audits”, the Contractor shall provide an annual audited 

financial statement to the Department and SSAC within 120 calendar days after the end of the 

calendar year and the system of accounting shall be in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles and practices, consistently applied throughout. 

 

Audit Documents 

 

The City requires an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

to include the following documents: 

 

1. Statement of Financial Position. 

2. Statement of Activities: Budget and Actual (period being audited compared to the previous 

year, e.g. columns should be 2015 Budget, 2015 Actual, Variance, 2014 Budget, 2014 

Actual, Variance).  

3. Statement of Cash Flows. 

4. Notes to the Financial Statements. 

5. Summary Schedule of Findings that also includes the management response to any audit 

findings and any subsequent CPA Firm and/or City’s and/or management responses until 

the CPA Firm and/or the City consider the findings sufficiently remedied. 

 

Expense descriptions included in the Statement of Activities must correspond to the expense 

descriptions in the budget submitted to the City. 

 

CPA Firm License 

 

The CPA Firm shall attach as an exhibit to the audit the firm’s active license and key personnel to 

this engagement in the State of Illinois. 

 

Audit Presentations 

 

The CPA Firm shall attend at least one (1) SSAC meeting and be available for other meetings as 

requested by the City to present the draft and/or final audit and respond to questions.  
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Debarment 

 

Upon issuance of the final audit, the CPA Firm shall confirm it is not on the City’s debarred vendor 

list. 
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EXHIBIT 9 

 

Sexual Harassment Policy Affidavit (Section 2-92-612) 

 
The policy prohibiting sexual harassment as described in Section 2-92-612 of the Municipal Code of Chicago ("MCC") 

is applicable to contracts paid from funds belonging to or administered by the City. 

 

Contract title:______________________________  _______  

Specification #:_________________ 

In accordance with requirements set forth in Section 2-92-612 of the MCC, Contractor hereby attests that Contractor 
has a written policy prohibiting sexual harassment in compliance with Section 6-10-040 of the MCC. 

In accordance with Section 6-10-040 of the MCC, Contractor’s written policy prohibiting sexual harassment shall 
include, at a minimum, the following information:  
(i) a statement that sexual harassment is illegal in Chicago;  

(ii) the following definition of sexual harassment: “‘Sexual harassment’ means any (i) unwelcome sexual advances 

or unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature; or (ii) requests for sexual favors or conduct of a sexual nature when 

(1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual’s 

employment, or (2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for any 

employment decision affecting the individual, or (3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially 

interfering with an individual’s work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working 

environment; or (iii) sexual misconduct, which means any behavior of a sexual nature which also involves 

coercion, abuse of authority, or misuse of an individual’s employment position.”;  

(iii) a requirement that all employees participate in: (1) sexual harassment prevention training annually, (a) 

Employees shall participate in a minimum of one hour of sexual harassment prevention training annually, and 

(b) Anyone who supervises or manages employees shall participate in a minimum of two hours of sexual 

harassment prevention training annually, and (2) one hour of bystander training annually;  

(iv) Examples of prohibited conduct that constitute sexual harassment;  

(v) Details on: (1) how an individual can report an allegation of sexual harassment, including, as appropriate, 

instructions on how to make a confidential report, with an internal complaint form, to a manager, employer’s 

corporate headquarters or human resources department, or other internal reporting mechanism; and (2) legal 

services, including governmental, available to employees who may be victims of sexual harassment; and  

(vi) A statement that retaliation for reporting sexual harassment is illegal in Chicago. 

Contractor understands that it may be required to produce records to the CPO to verify the information provided.   
Under penalty of perjury the person signing below: (1) warrants that he/she is authorized to execute this Affidavit 
on behalf of Contractor, and (2) warrants that all certifications and statements contained in this Affidavit are true, 
accurate, and complete as of the date of execution. 
 

Name of Contractor:     

 (Print or Type)   

 

Signature of Authorized Officer:    
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  (Signature) 

Title of Signatory:     

 (Print or Type) 

State of _________________________ 

County of ________________________ 

Signed and sworn (or affirmed) to before me on ____________ (date) by 

_________________ (name/s of person/s making statement). 

______________________ 

(Signature of Notary Public)     (Seal)  
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EXHIBIT 10 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL CONTRACT TERMS RELATING TO EXECUTIVE ORDER 2021-2 
 

 Supplement to Special Conditions Regarding MBE Commitment and WBE Commitment or Special 
Conditions Regarding DBE Commitment: Quarterly Reporting  

1.1.1.   Policy  
Pursuant to Mayoral Executive Order 2021-2, contractors must submit quarterly reports regarding the 
utilization of MBE and WBE firms, or DBE firms, on their contracts. 

1.1.2.   Projected Utilization Schedule  
Prior to contract award, anticipated contract awardee must submit a “Projected Utilization Schedule,” in a 
form acceptable to the CPO, showing when and to what extent in the schedule for performance of the 
Contract the MBEs and WBEs or DBEs listed on the Schedules C and D for the Contract are expected to be 
used toward the contract-specific goals.   Contracts that do not have goals are exempt from this 
requirement. 

For master agreements for task order professional services awarded pursuant to a Request for 
Qualifications, Projected Utilization Schedules for each task will be submitted with the task order proposal 
and finalized prior to award or assignment of the task, as applicable.   

The CPO may require explanations or submittal of a revised or more detailed Schedule at any time prior to 
or after award of the contract as the CPO deems appropriate in order to facilitate compliance with the 
M/WBE or DBE commitments of the Contract.   

1.1.3.   Quarterly Summary Utilization Reports  
Each quarter, Contractor must submit a Summary Utilization Report, in a form acceptable to the CPO, 
comparing projected usage with actual usage.  If actual usage is more than 5% below the value of 
projected usage (based on a percentage of the value of anticipated M/WBE expenditures), Contractor 
must provide an explanation for the discrepancy, and a recovery plan.  Recovery plans should include a 
proposed revised Projected Utilization Schedule if Contractor anticipates that actual utilization will not 
meet projected utilization before the next quarterly report would be due.    The CPO may require 
Contractor to meet with the City to discuss and revise the recovery plan as the CPO deems appropriate.     

1.1.4. Changes to Compliance Plan 
Requests for approval of revisions to Contractor’s Compliance Plan must be accompanied by a revised 
Projected Utilization Schedule consistent with the request. 

 Supplement to Standard Terms and Conditions:  Business Diversity Program Reporting 
1.2.1.   Policy  
Pursuant to Mayoral Executive Order 2021-2, contractors must submit annual reports regarding the 
contractors’ efforts regarding utilization of MBE and WBE firms, and other historically underutilized firms. 

1.2.2.   Definitions  
“Business Diversity Program” means a program or initiative of a business enterprise which encourages or 
facilitates the use of minority-owned, women-owned, and other historically underutilized businesses as 
contractors, consultants, suppliers, or service providers for that business. 

“Certified Firms” means firms possessing certifications recognized by the City of Chicago pursuant to MCC 
Chapter 2-92 or 49 CFR Parts 23 or 26.  Specifically, MBEs, WBEs, BEPDs, VBEs, and DBEs. 

1.2.3.   Business Diversity Program Reports   
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Contractor must submit an annual report on July 1 of each year (or other date designated by the CPO) 
containing information about the Contractor’s Business Diversity Program, if information is available.  
However, for Contracts awarded June 1 through July 1, the due date for the first annual report will be 
August 1, all subsequent reports will be due July 1.  Information to be provided will include: 

• Whether Contractor has a Business Diversity Program. 

• Description of the Contractor’s Business Diversity Program, if any. 

• Information on expenditure of goods and services from minority-owned firms and women-
owned firms during the prior calendar year, expressed in dollars and percentages, to the extent 
information is available.  For reports due in 2021, information on expenditures in both 2019 and 
2020 should be provided if available. 

• For each year after the first year, information on progress or changes in the program in the prior 
year, if such information exists.  

Reports shall be submitted to a City office or location anticipated to be identified by June 15, 2021. 

1.2.4.   Applicability   
Contractor must submit the reports required by this Section 1.2 unless:  

(A) Contractor is a Certified Firm; or 

(B) The Contract is for professional consulting services of an individual who is either the majority owner 
of the Contractor or is him- or herself the contracting party as a sole proprietor; or  

(C) The aggregate award value of all City contracts awarded to Contractor between May 31 of the prior 
year and May 31 of the current year is less than $100,000; or 

(D)  The CPO has otherwise notified the Contractor in writing that the requirement does not apply or that 
an exception will be made as outlined in Mayoral Executive Order 2021-2. 

However, Contractors not required to report may report voluntarily. 
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EXHIBIT 11 

 
Data Protection Requirements for Contractors, Vendors and 

Third-Parties  
 

 
 
“Breach” means the acquisition, access, use, or disclosure of Protected Information that compromises the security or 
privacy of the Protected Information.  
 
"Contractor" means an entity that receives or encounters Protected Information. Contractor includes, without 
limitation, entities that store Protected Information, or host applications that process Protected Information. The 
provisions of this Data Policy includes not only the entity that is a signatory to this Policy but all subcontractors, of 
whatever tier, of that entity; the signatory must inform and obtain the agreement of such subcontractors to the terms 
of this Data Policy.  
  
“Protected Information” means all data provided by City to Contractor or encountered by Contractor in the 
performance of the services to the City, including, without limitation, all data sent to Contractor by City and/or stored 
by Contractor on its servers. Protected Information includes, but is not limited to, employment records, medical and 
health records, personal financial records (or other personally identifiable information), research data, and classified 
government information. To the extent there is any uncertainty as to whether any data constitutes Protected 
Information, the data in question shall be treated as Protected Information. 
 

 
1. Information Security. Contractor agrees to the following: 

 
1.1. General. Notwithstanding any other obligation of Contractor under this policy, Contractor agrees that it will 

not lose, alter, or delete, either intentionally or unintentionally, any Protected Information, and that it is 
responsible for the safe-keeping of all such information, except to the extent that the City directs the 
Contractor in writing to do so.  
 

1.2. Access to Data.  In addition to the records to be stored / maintained by Contractor, all records that are 
possessed by Contractor in its service to the City of Chicago to perform a governmental function are public 
records of the City of Chicago pursuant to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), unless the records 
are exempt under the Act.  FOIA requires that the City produce records in a very short period of time.  If the 
Contractor receives a request from the City to produce records, the Contractor shall do so within 72 hours 
of the notice. 
 

1.3. Minimum Standard for Data at Rest and Data in Motion. Contractor must, at a minimum, comply, in its 
treatment of Protected Information, with National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Special 
Publication 800-53 Moderate Level Control. Notwithstanding this requirement, Contractor acknowledges 
that it must fully comply with each additional obligation contained in this policy. If data is protected health 
information or electronic protected health information, as defined in the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act and Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act 
(HIPAA/HITECH) and regulations implementing these Acts (see 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164), it must be 
secured in accordance with “Guidance Specifying the Technologies and Methodologies that Render 
Protected Health Information Unusable, Unreadable, or Indecipherable to Unauthorized Individuals,” 
available on the United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) website 

https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/breach-notification/guidance/index.html, or at Volume 74 of the 
Federal Register, beginning at page 42741. That guidance from the HHS states that valid encryption 
processes for protected health information data at rest (e.g., protected health information resting on a 
server), must be consistent with the NIST Special Publication 800-111, Guide for Storage Encryption 
Technologies for End User Devices. Valid encryption processes for protected health information data in 
motion (e.g., transmitted through a network) are those which comply with NIST Special Publications 800-
52, Guidelines for the Selection and Use of Transport Layer Security Implementation; 800-77, Guide to 

https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/breach-notification/guidance/index.html
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IPsec VPNs; or 800-113, Guide to SSL VPNs, or others which are Federal Information Processing 
Standards (FIPS) 140-2 validated. 

 
1.4  Where Data is to be Stored. All data must be processed, stored, and disposed of only on computer systems 

located in the continental United States. 

1.5 Requirement to Maintain Security Program. Contractor acknowledges that the City has implemented an 
information security program to protect the City’s information assets, which Program is available on the City 
website at https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/dti/pdfs/ISTP.pdf (“City Program”). Contractor 
shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining an information security program that is designed to: (i) 
ensure the security and confidentiality of Protected Information; (ii) protect against any anticipated threats or 
hazards to the security or integrity of Protected Information; (iii) protect against unauthorized access to or 
use of Protected Information; (iv) ensure the proper disposal of Protected Information; and, (v) ensure that 
all subcontractors of Contractor, if any, comply with all of the foregoing.  
 

1.6 Undertaking by Contractor.  Without limiting Contractor’s obligation of confidentiality as further described 
herein, in no case shall the safeguards of Contractor’s information security program be less stringent than 
the information security safeguards used by the City Program. 

 
1.7 Right of Audit by the City of Chicago. The City of Chicago shall have the right to review Contractor’s 

information security program prior to the commencement of Services and from time to time during the term 
of this Agreement. During the performance of the Services, from time to time and without notice, the City of 
Chicago, at its own expense, shall be entitled to perform, or to have performed, an on-site audit of 
Contractor’s information security program. In lieu of an on-site audit, upon request by the City of Chicago, 
Contractor agrees to complete, within forty-five (45 days) of receipt, an audit questionnaire provided by the 
City of Chicago or the City of Chicago’s designee regarding Contractor’s information security program. 
 

1.8 Audit by Contractor. No less than annually, Contractor shall conduct an independent third-party audit of its 
information security program and provide such audit findings to the City of Chicago, all at the Contractor’s 
sole expense. 
 

1.9 Audit Findings. Contractor shall implement at its sole expense any remedial actions as identified by the City 
as a result of the audit. 
 

1.10 Demonstrate Compliance - PCI. No less than annually, as defined by the City of Chicago and where 
applicable, the Contractor agrees to demonstrate compliance with PCI DSS (Payment Card Industry Data 
Security Standard). Upon City’s request, Contractor must be prepared to demonstrate compliance of any 
system or component used to process, store, or transmit cardholder data that is operated by the Contractor 
as part of its service. Similarly, upon City’s request, Contractor must demonstrate the compliance of any 
third party it has sub-contracted as part of the service offering. As evidence of compliance, the Contractor 
shall provide upon request a current attestation of compliance signed by a PCI QSA (Qualified Security 
Assessor). 
 

1.11 Demonstrate Compliance – HIPAA / HITECH. If the Protected Information includes protected health 
information or electronic protected health information covered under HIPAA/HITECH, Contractor must 
execute, and be governed by, the provisions in its contract with the City regarding HIPAA/HITECH, the 
regulations implementing those Acts, and the Business Associate Agreement in its contract with the City. As 
specified in 1.3, protected health information must be secured in accordance with the “Guidance Specifying 
the Technologies and Methodologies that Render Protected Health Information Unusable, Unreadable, or 
Indecipherable to Unauthorized Individuals.”  

 
1.12 Data Confidentiality. Contractor shall implement appropriate measures designed to ensure the confidentiality 

and security of Protected Information, protect against any anticipated hazards or threats to the integrity or 
security of such information, protect against unauthorized access or disclosure of information, and prevent 
any other action that could result in substantial harm to the City of Chicago or an individual identified with the 
data or information in Contractor’s custody. 
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1.13 Compliance with All Laws and Regulations. Contractor agrees that it will comply with all laws and 

regulations. 

 
1.14 Limitation of Access. Contractor will not knowingly permit any Contractor personnel to have access to any 

City of Chicago facility or any records or data of the City of Chicago if the person has been convicted of a 
crime in connection with (i) a dishonest act, breach of trust, or money laundering, or (ii) a felony. Contractor 
must, to the extent permitted by law, conduct a check of public records in all of the employee’s states of 
residence and employment for at least the last five years in order to verity the above. Contractor shall assure 
that all contracts with subcontractors impose these obligations on the subcontractors and shall monitor the 
subcontractors’ compliance with such obligations.  
 

1.15 Data Re-Use. Contractor agrees that any and all data exchanged shall be used expressly and solely for the 
purposes enumerated in the Agreement. Data shall not be distributed, repurposed or shared across other 
applications, environments, or business units of Contractor. As required by Federal law, Contractor further 
agrees that no City of Chicago data of any kind shall be revealed, transmitted, exchanged or otherwise 
passed to other Contractors or interested parties except on a case-by-case basis as specifically agreed to in 
writing by an officer of the City of Chicago with designated data, security, or signature authority. 
 

1.16 Safekeeping and Security. Contractor will be responsible for safekeeping all keys, access codes, 
passwords, combinations, access cards, personal identification numbers and similar security codes and 
identifiers issued to Contractor’s employees, agents or subcontractors. Contractor agrees to require its 
employees to promptly report a lost or stolen access device or information to their primary business contact 
and to the City of Chicago Information Security Office.  
 

1.17 Mandatory Disclosure of Protected Information. If Contractor is compelled by law or regulation to disclose 
any Protected Information, the Contractor will provide to the City of Chicago with prompt written notice so 
that the City of Chicago may seek an appropriate protective order or other remedy. If a remedy acceptable 
to the City of Chicago is not obtained by the date that the Contractor must comply with the request, the 
Contractor will furnish only that portion of the Protected Information that it is legally required to furnish, and 
the Contractor shall require any recipient of the Protected Information to exercise commercially reasonable 
efforts to keep the Protected Information confidential. 

 
1.18 Data Breach. Contractor agrees to comply with all laws and regulations relating to data breach, including 

without limitation, the Illinois Personal Information Protection Act and other applicable breach disclosure 
laws and regulations. Data breaches of protected health information and electronic protected health 
information shall be governed by the provisions regarding HIPAA/HITECH, and the regulations implementing 
those Acts, in the Contractor’s contract with the City, specifically the Business Associate Agreement in such 
contract. Contractor will immediately notify the City if security of any Protected Information has been 
breached, and will provide information as to that breach in such detail as requested by the City. Contractor 
will, if requested by the City, notify any affected individuals of such breach at the sole cost of the Contractor. 
 

1.19 Data Sanitization and Safe Disposal. All physical and electronic records must be retained per federal, state 
and local laws and regulations, including the Local Records Act. Where disposal is approved, the Contractor 
agrees that prior to disposal or reuse of all magnetic media (e.g. hard disk, floppy disk, removable media, 
etc.) which may have contained City of Chicago data shall be submitted to a data sanitization process which 
meets or exceeds DoD 5220.28-M 3-pass specifications. Certification of the completion of data sanitization 
shall be provided to the City of Chicago within 10 days of completion. Acceptance of Certification of Data 
Sanitization by the Information Security Office of the City of Chicago is required prior to media reuse or 
disposal. All other materials which contain City of Chicago data shall be physically destroyed and shredded 
in accordance to NIST Special Publication 800-88, Guidelines for Media Sanitization, specifications. 

 
1.20 End of Agreement Data Handling. The Contractor agrees that upon termination of this Agreement it shall 

return all data to the City of Chicago in a useable electronic form, and erase, destroy, and render unreadable 
all data in its entirety in accordance to the prior stated Data Sanitization and Safe Disposal provisions. Data 
must be rendered in a manner that prevents its physical reconstruction through the use of commonly 
available file restoration utilities. Certification in writing that these actions have been completed must be 
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provided within 30 days of the termination of this Agreement or within 7 days of a request of an agent of the 
City of Chicago, whichever shall come first. 


